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LEACH JOHNSON SONG & GRUCHOW
SEAN L. ANDERSON 
Nevada Bar No. 7259 
RYAN R. REED 
Nevada Bar No. 11695 
8945 West Russell Road, Suite 330 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148
Telephone: (702) 538-9074 
Facsimile: (702) 538-9113 
sanderson@leachjohnson.com 
rreed@leachjohnson.com 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEVADA

BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

STONEFIELD II HOMEOWNERS 
ASSOCIATION; ANTHEM HIGHLANDS 
COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION; 
MONECITO AT MOUNTAIN’S EDGE 
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION; 
HERITAGE SQUARE SOUTH
HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC.; 
SIERRA RANCH HOMEOWNERS 
ASSOCIATION; CORTEZ HEIGHTS 
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION; 
SOUTHERN HIGHLANDS COMMUNITY 
ASSOCIATION; ELKHORN –
CIMMARRON ESTATES HOMEOWNERS 
ASSOCIATION; ELKHORN COMMUNITY 
ASSOCIATION, a Nevada non-profit 
corporation; CANYON CREST 
ASSOCIATION; LAS BRISAS 
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION; 
ALIANTE MASTER ASSOCIATION; 
MOUNTAIN’S EDGE MASTER 
ASSOCIATION; ALESSI & KOENIG, LLC; 
ALLIED TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.;
ANGIUS & TERRY COLLECTIONS, LLC; 
ASSESSMENT MANAGEMENT GROUP 
INC.; ASSET RECOVERY SERVICES, 
INC.; LJS&G,LTD., d/b/a Leach Johnson 
Song & Gruchow; HOMEOWNER 
ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC; NEVADA 
ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC.; PHIL 
FRINK & ASSOCIATES, INC.; G.J.L., 
INCORPORATED, d/b/a Pro Forma Lien & 
Foreclosure; K.G.D.O. HOLDING 

Case No.: 2:11-cv-00167-JCM-RJJ

MOTION TO DISMISS
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COMPANY, INC., d/b/a Terra West Property 
Management; RMI MANAGEMENT LLC, 
d/b/a Red Rock Financial Services; SILVER 
STATE TRUSTEE SERVICES, LLC,

Defendants.
Defendants Anthem Highlands Community Association, Homeowners Association 

Services, Inc., LJS&G, LTD., d/b/a Leach Johnson Song & Gruchow, Heritage Square South, 

Nevada Association Services, Inc., K.G.D.O. Holding Company, Inc., d/b/a Terra West Property 

Management, Sierra Ranch Homeowners Association, Cortez Heights Homeowners Association,

Elkhorn Cimarron Estates Homeowners Association, Mountain’s Edge Master Association,

Montecito at Mountain’s Edge Homeowners Association, RMI Management, L.L.C. d/b/a Red 

Rock Financial Services, Stonefield II Homeowners Association, Phil Frink & Associates, Inc.,

Heritage Square South Homeowners Association, Aliante Master Association, and Elkhorn 

Community Association.  (collectively “Defendants”), by and through their undersigned 

attorneys, herby submit this Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint (“Motion”).

This Motion is based upon the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the 

pleadings and papers on file herein, and any oral argument the Court may allow. 

DATED this 23rd day of March, 2011. 

      LEACH JOHNSON SONG & GRUCHOW

      By: _____
SEAN L. ANDERSON

/s/ Sean Anderson______ 

Nevada Bar No. 7259 
RYAN W. REED
Nevada Bar No. 11695 

        8945 West Russell Road, Suite 330 
        Las Vegas, Nevada 89148

Attorney for LJS&G

I. INTRODUCTION

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

 Ignoring the most basic tenets of lien and foreclosure law, Plaintiff asks this Court to 

issue a declaration permitting lenders to pay off statutorily superior liens for pennies on the 
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dollar without completing the requisite step of foreclosing on the property subject to the lien. 

This means that lenders obtain clear title to the asset subject to their security interest without ever 

owning the property.  In this way, lenders insulate the asset from foreclosure by the 

homeowners’ association and, at the same time, avoid all of the obligations of property 

ownership, including the payments of assessments prospectively and maintaining the property in

accordance with the covenants, conditions and restrictions recorded against the property.  

Lenders, such as Bank of America, may then sit on the property without maintaining it or paying

assessments to the homeowners’ association for whatever period of time it takes for the real 

estate market to improve enough to enable Plaintiff to maximize its profit.  Plaintiff’s paradigm, 

if employed, would result in a tremendous windfall for lenders and bankruptcy or receivership 

for Nevada common-interest communities.

Pursuant to N.R.S. 116.3116, a homeowners’ association (“HOA”) has a statutory lien 

against a unit owner’s real property for delinquent assessments.  A delinquent assessment lien is 

afforded superiority over virtually every other lien or encumbrance against the property as to the 

full amount of the lien, including the first deed of trust, to the extent of assessments accrued in 

the 9 months preceding an action to enforce the lien.  This delinquent assessment lien is referred 

to as the Super Priority Lien.  Pursuant to Nevada law, late fees, interest and the costs associated 

with collection are included in the Super Priority Lien.  Lenders and investors are required to 

satisfy the Super Priority Lien to secure marketable title and sell the home. In an attempt to avoid 

this obligation, BAC cooked up a scheme of refusing to foreclose on the property and demanding 

that HOAs release their Super Priority Liens for a payment of much less than the amount of the 

lien.  

BAC now asks this Court to legitimize its scheme by issuing a declaration based entirely 

on an interpretation of a Nevada statute that is: (1) currently being litigated in virtually every 

available forum in the Nevada judicial and administrative system; (2) is the subject of several 

bills currently pending in the Nevada Legislature; and (3) has already been interpreted by the 

Commission for Common-Interest Communities and Condominium Hotels (“Commission”), the 

administrative body that the Nevada Legislature specifically empowered and directed to interpret 
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the precise statute that Plaintiff asks this Court to interpret.  It is well understood by all parties 

that this hotly debated state law issue will ultimately be determined by the Supreme Court of 

Nevada.  

BAC’s claims, in the meantime, are not ripe for adjudication in this Court.  BAC seeks a 

declaration from the Court that it may “prepay” a Super Priority Lien by tendering payment of a 

reduced amount prior to foreclosing on the property and demanding the release of the entire lien.

The Super Priority Lien is triggered

Alternatively, should this Court find this matter ripe for judicial determination, the 

Plaintiff has failed to satisfy the amount in controversy requirement, and this Court’s jurisdiction 

should be restrained to allow Nevada state courts to determine the merits, if any, of Plaintiff’s 

arguments regarding the interpretation and application of NRS § 116.3116. On these alternative 

bases, the Complaint must be dismissed. 

by foreclosure by the first deed of trust.   If the first trust 

deed holder takes title to the property at the foreclosure sale, the Association’s lien is 

extinguished except for the Super Priority portion of the lien, which survives foreclosure and 

entitles the HOA to recover that amount from the lender.  However, until such time as BAC 

actually forecloses on the property, there is and can be no priority dispute regarding the 

competing encumbrances and liens recorded against the property.  Accordingly, BAC’s claim for 

declaratory relief is not ripe for adjudication and should be dismissed.   

II. FACTS

In its Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that it services thousands of mortgage loans in Nevada 

on behalf of certain “first security interests.”  Complaint ¶ 47. Plaintiff acknowledges that HOAs 

are permitted to charge owners assessments for common expenses and, when owners fail to pay 

these assessments, HOAs have a lien against the property that can be foreclosed.  Id. ¶¶ 48-50.  

Plaintiff further acknowledges that an HOA’s lien for delinquent assessments is entitled to 

priority over the first deed of trust to the extent of assessments accruing in the 9 months 

preceding “an action to enforce the lien” (the “Super Priority Lien”).  Plaintiff further alleges that 

HOAs and the entire collections industry generally believe that the Super Priority Lien “attaches 

only after a first-priority deed of trust is foreclosed.”  Id. ¶ 53.   
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Plaintiff, sometimes before foreclosing on a property, tenders payment of the Super 

Priority Lien amount calculated as 9 times the monthly assessment amount, excluding interest, 

late fees and costs of collection.  Id. ¶¶ 54, 65-67.  Plaintiff alleges that Defendants sometimes 

refuse to communicate with Plaintiff regarding the pay-off amount of the Super Priority Lien.  

Id. ¶ 56.  Plaintiff alleges that the trustees “wrongfully rejected tender of the payment by BAC 

that would have satisfied the full lien amount[.]” Id. ¶ 66. Plaintiff further alleges that 

Defendants “will continue to refuse BAC payments” and that Defendants sought to collect an 

amount in excess of that which is allowed pursuant to N.R.S. § 116.3116. Id. ¶¶ 67, 71.  On this 

basis Plaintiff seeks a judicial declaration that “(1) BAC has a right to pay off or redeem an 

association’s super-priority lien [and demand release of the entire lien], and (2) only budgeted 

common assessments, but not attorneys’ fees or collection costs, are included within the super-

priority lien amount under § Nev. Rev. Stat. 116.3116.”  Id. at p. 10. 

III. ARGUMENTS

1. Legal Standard 

Declaratory relief is available only if: (1) a justiciable controversy exists between parties 

with adverse interests; (2) the plaintiff has a legally protectable interest; and (3) the issue is ripe. 

See Knittle v. Progressive Casualty Ins. Co., 908 P.2d 724, 725 (Nev. 1996).  Further, a claim is 

fit for declaratory relief only if the issues raised involve a legally cognizable claim. US West 

Commc'ns v. MFS Intelenet, Inc., 193 F.3d 1112, 1118 (9th Cir .1999). If a case is not ripe for 

review, then there is no case or controversy and the court cannot exercise subject-matter 

jurisdiction over the action. See American States Ins. Co. v. Kearns, 15 F.3d 142, 143 (9th 

Cir.1994). Declaratory judgments generally serve to resolve uncertainty faced by potential 

defendants who face threats of litigation and who may accrue legal liability while waiting for 

potential plaintiffs to initiate a suit. See Societe de Conditionnement en Aluminum v. Hunter 

Engineering Co., Inc., 655 F.2d 938 (9th Cir. 1981). 

The decision whether or not to hear a declaratory judgment action is left to the discretion 

of the federal court. See Leadsinger, Inc. v. BMG Music Pub., 512 F.3d 522, 533 (9th Cir.2008). 

Thus, the federal court may decline to address a claim for declaratory relief “[w]here the 
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substantive suit would resolve the issues raised by the declaratory judgment action, ... because

the controversy has ‘ripened’ and the uncertainty and anticipation of litigation are alleviated.” 

Tempco Elec. Heater Corp. v. Omega Eng'g, Inc., 819 F.2d 746, 749 (7th Cir.1987).  

2. Plaintiff’s Claims are Not Ripe for Judicial Determination.   

Plaintiff’s Complaint may be summarized as follows: (1) Plaintiff has a right to tender 

payment of the Super-Priority Lien, thereby implying a corresponding legal obligation of the 

Defendants to accept the payment as settlement in full on a property against which Plaintiff has a 

recorded deed of trust; and (2) that Defendants’ super-priority lien amounts are in excess of those 

amounts allowed for pursuant to NRS § 116.3116. For the following reasons, Plaintiff’s claims 

are not ripe for judicial determination.

a. Plaintiff Failed to Foreclose on the Property as Required 
Under NRS § 116.3116.

NRS § 116.3116 establishes a Super Priority Lien for delinquent assessments.  N.R.S. § 

116.3116 provides, in relevant part, as follows: 

1. The association has a lien on a unit for any construction penalty 
that is imposed against the unit’s owner pursuant to NRS 
116.310305, any assessment levied against that unit or any fines 
imposed against the unit’s owner from the time the construction 
penalty, assessment or fine becomes due. Unless the declaration 
otherwise provides, any penalties, fees, charges, late charges, fines 
and interest charged pursuant to paragraphs (j) to (n), inclusive, of 
subsection 1 of NRS 116.3102 are enforceable as assessments 
under this section. If an assessment is payable in installments, the 
full amount of the assessment is a lien from the time the first 
installment thereof becomes due.

Based on the forgoing, any fees, charges, fines and interest pursuant to N.R.S. § 

116.3102(j)-(n) are also enforceable as assessments under N.R.S. § 116.3116. Because these 

fees, charges, fines and interest are enforceable as assessments, they must be included in the 

Super Priority Lien amount described in N.R.S. § 116.3116(2)(c).  Plaintiff incorrectly alleges 

that these and similar costs specifically accounted for by statute as part of a common-interest 

communities super-priority lien are “junior to [BAC’s] first deed of trust.”  See Complaint, 

Exhibits 1 and 2.

The falsity of BAC’s assertion is plainly shown by the very language of the statute. NRS 
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§ 116.3116 (2), further provides as follows: 

A lien under this section is prior to all other liens and 
encumbrances on a unit except: 

(a) Liens and encumbrances recorded before the recordation of 
the declaration and, in a cooperative, liens and 
encumbrances which the association creates, assumes or 
takes subject to;

(b) A first security interest on the unit recorded before the date 
on which the assessment sought to be enforced became 
delinquent; and 

(c) Liens for real estate taxes and other governmental 
assessments or charges against the unit or cooperative.   

The lien is also prior to all security interests described in 
paragraph (b) to the extent of the assessments for common 
expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the 
association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have 
become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 
months immediately preceding institution of an action 
to enforce the lien. 

(Emphasis added.)  

BAC has ignored and continues to ignore the express language of N.R.S. § 116.3116 

which provides that a common-interest community has a lien for all amounts due and owing and

a 9 month super-priority interest which becomes due upon the “institution of an action to enforce 

the lien.” Id. Instead of simply foreclosing, like virtually every other lender in Nevada, Plaintiff 

tendered payment of less than the Super Priority Lien and demanded that Defendants release the 

lien.  Id. ¶¶ 58-62. BAC’s attempt to prepay the Super Priority Lien is based upon a fundamental 

misunderstanding of NRS Chapter 116 and the foreclosure process.

Plaintiff is a “beneficiary/servicer of the first deed of trust loan secured by the property.”  

See Complaint, Exhibits 1 and 2.  Plaintiff is not the record owner of a property until it exercises 

its right to foreclose on the property and take title at the foreclosure sale.  As a result, it is unclear 

how Plaintiff can pre-pay a super-priority lien amount prior to foreclosure of its interest when 

NRS § 116.3116 only has a liquidated existence upon the foreclosure of an otherwise superior 

lien holder.  NRS § 116.3116 does not provide Plaintiff the right to settle the amounts owing 

under the Super Priority Lien in the absence of a foreclosure.  Importantly, Plaintiff’s Complaint
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failed to identify any statutory language within NRS § 116.3116 that would grant to Plaintiff this 

right or standing to assert this right.   

The reason for this omission is clear—no such language exists. As stated above, if 

Plaintiff does not foreclose its interest then there is no cognizable reason to analyze NRS § 

116.3116(2)(c) because there is no priority analysis. Absent the foreclosure of a superior 

lienholder, there is nothing to wipe out any of the inferior liens on the property. Unless and until 

a foreclosure does wipe out any of the inferior liens, the property will continue to serve as 

security for the full debts owed.  

b. Absent Foreclosure of Its Lien, Neither the Plaintiff Nor 
Defendants can Properly Calculate the Super-Priority Lien 
Amount.

NRS § 116.3116(2)(c) provides that the super-priority lien survives the foreclosure of 

Plaintiff’s superior interest to the extent of 9 months’ worth of common expense assessments 

which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately 

preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien.   The only way to determine the pertinent 9 

month period is to determine the event that triggers the lien priority system provided for in NRS 

§ 116.3116.  In the absence of foreclosure there is no point of reference by which either the 

Plaintiff or the common-interest community could correctly identify the 9 months term at issue 

as numerous variables may impact the amount due under the Super Priority Lien.  For example, 

the assessments frequently change annually and that budget may also include special assessments 

and reserve assessments levied periodically throughout the year, which is reflected in an 

association’s budget.  

In addition, amounts levied by an association that are entitled to lien priority under NRS 

§ 116.3116(2)(c) may include amounts incurred by an association in abating a public nuisance or 

performing exterior maintenance on a property within the community. Under NRS § 

116.310312, an association may recover costs from an owner as follows: 

The association may order that the costs of any maintenance or 
abatement conducted pursuant to subsection 2 or 3, including, 
without limitation, reasonable inspection fees, notification and 
collection costs and interest, be charged against the unit. The 
association shall keep a record of such costs and interest charged 
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against the unit and has a lien on the unit for any unpaid amount of 
the charges. The lien may be foreclosed under NRS 116.31162 to 
116.31168, inclusive. 

. . . 

(6) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a lien 
described in subsection 4 is prior and superior to all liens,
claims, encumbrances and titles other than the liens described 
in paragraphs (a) and (c) of subsection 2 of NRS 116.3116. . .” 

(Emphasis added.) 

Based on the foregoing, an association has a lien for any costs that it incurs in the 

maintenance of a property or abatement of a public nuisance on a property.  Id. NRS § 

116.310312 further provides that the lien is recoverable as part of the Super Priority Lien and 

that it includes collection costs and other charges. Id.  

Simply stated, the Super Priority Lien cannot be calculated unless a first security interest 

is foreclosed and the relevant 9 month period determined. If the Defendants were to accept a 

payment from Plaintiff for the Super Priority Lien, any assessments levied or charges levied 

pursuant to NRS § 116.310312 after that acceptance would not be secured by those statutory 

liens. If Plaintiff were correct in its position on NRS § 116.3116 in that it has a right to pay the 

Super Priority Lien, the tender of payment to Defendants would arbitrarily cut off the 

Defendants’ right to secure other assessments that may come due after that payment but would 

also cut off their lien rights as provided in NRS § 116.310312.  

Furthermore, the amounts owed under the Super Priority Lien may, from time to time, 

include many more charges and other assessments based on a periodic budget than just the bare 

amount of regular assessments as determined conveniently by Plaintiff. Until a first security 

interest is foreclosed, there is no way to determine the specific charges and assessments that are 

entitled to protection under the Super Priority Lien. Accordingly, Plaintiff allegations that the 

Defendants, by and through their trustees, have incorrectly rejected Plaintiff’s tender of certain 

payments are simply incorrect. Id. ¶¶ 58-65. Prior to Plaintiff’s foreclosure, there is no 

application of NRS § 116.3116, as the event triggering Plaintiff’s interest in a property has not 

yet taken place and the calculation of the Super Priority Lien is not yet possible.  
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c. BAC’s Paradigm Incorrectly assumes that it will take Record 
Title to a Property at a Foreclosure Sale.

BAC’s proposed paradigm and Complaint are based on hypothetical suppositions that can 

never be known until the foreclosure sale.  As set forth above, if the first deed of trust holder 

takes record title to a property at a foreclosure sale an association’s lien claim is extinguished 

except for the nine-month super-priority amount. Pursuant to NRS § 116.3116, the 9 month 

super-priority amount survives the foreclosure sale and entitles an association to its superior 9

month super-priority claim against the foreclosing lender.  The 9 month super-priority claim is 

then governed by NRS 116.3116 as well as an association’s governing documents.  See NRS § 

116.3116(1)(“Unless the declaration otherwise provides[.]”) 

However, the foregoing assumes that the first deed of trust takes record title to the 

property at the foreclosure sale.  This supposition fails to account for the possibility that there are 

bidders at the lender’s foreclosure sale and that the property is transferred to someone other than 

the holder of first deed of trust.  In such cases, an association still has a 9 month super-priority 

claim to the foreclosure sale proceeds, however, an association also has an additional claim to

any remaining balance it is owed in the event that the first deed of trust holder is paid in full from 

the foreclosure sale proceeds.  A HOA’s remaining balance claim takes precedence over all 

lenders except for the first deed of trust holder’s claim.   

Plaintiff’s Complaint erroneously assumes that a HOA will never get more from a lender 

foreclosure than the “maximum 9 months worth of delinquent assessments recoverable by the 

HOA.”  Complaint, Exhibits 1 and 2.  However, if there are sufficient sale proceeds an 

association may be entitled to an amount in excess of that which is prioritized pursuant NRS § 

116.3116. Accordingly, it is absurd for Plaintiff to assert that it is entitled to “prepay” an 

association’s Super Priority Lien when, as here, Plaintiff has failed to initiate an action to enforce 

its lien as required by NRS § 116.3116, and the  proceeds from the sale, in certain cases, have 

not come to fruition.   
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d. Plaintiff’s Hypothetical Injuries are Insufficient to Raise an 
Actionable Case or Controversy, And, As Such, Are Not Ripe.

Here, Plaintiff’s claim for declaratory relief rests on an assortment of arguments, demand 

letters and hypothetical actions wherein BAC alleged a “right to pay off or ‘redeem’ the 

associations’ super-priority liens” on the basis that BAC is the holder of a first deed of trust.

Complaint ¶¶ 47, 74.  There are no allegations in the Complaint that BAC took any action 

against or asserted its interest over the properties in any recognizable way: BAC is not the record 

owner of the property by virtue of the first deed of trust and BAC did not foreclose on a property 

or participate in filing any documents against a given property. BAC's Complaint is based solely 

on possible, hypothetical actions that could be taken by BAC. Hypothetical injuries are 

insufficient to raise an actionable case or controversy and invoke the court's subject-matter 

jurisdiction. See e.g., Coast Range Conifers v. Board of Forestry, 83 P.3d 966 (Or. 2004).  If a 

case is not ripe for review, then there is no case or controversy and the court cannot exercise 

subject-matter jurisdiction over the action. See American States Ins. Co. v. Kearns, 15 F.3d 142, 

143 (9th Cir.1994).  Thus, BAC's Complaint fails to establish the existence of a case or 

controversy as it is not ripe for review and, therefore, should be dismissed. 

3. Plaintiff’s Complaint as Pled does not call for a Recovery or Relief in an Amount 
Valued at more than $75,000.00. 

Alternatively, should this Court determine that Plaintiff may file the present action 

without foreclosing on its first deed of trust, there remain additional grounds for dismissal of this 

action.  Under 28 U.S.C. §1332(a), the amount in controversy must exceed $75,000.00. Whether 

or not this monetary threshold is met is determined under the rule of law that holds if it appears 

from the complaint to a legal certainty that the plaintiff is not entitled to that relief, then 

jurisdiction is wanting under 28 U.S.C. §1332(a). St. Paul Mercury Indemnity Co., 303 U.S. at 

288-289.  

In determining whether Plaintiff is entitled to any relief and thus able to satisfy 28 U.S.C. 

§1332(a), the Court must look to the face of the Complaint and the allegations therein. St. Paul 

Mercury Indemnity Co., 303 U.S. at 292; see e.g., Crum v. Circus Circus Enterprises, 231 F.3d. 

1129, 1131 (9th Cir. 2000) (stating that the “amount in controversy is determined from the face 
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of the pleading.”). In doing so, the Court must consult pertinent state law to determine if the 

Plaintiff can lawfully recover what it is seeking. See e.g., Duderwicz v. Sweetwater Sav. Ass’n. v. 

595 F.2d 1008, 1012 (5th Cir. 1979) (stating “[t]he determination of whether the requisite 

amount in controversy exists is a federal question; however, ‘State law is relevant to this 

determination insofar as it defines the nature and extent of the right plaintiff seeks to enforce.’” 

(quoting Johns-Manville Sales Corp. v. Mitchell Enterprises, Inc., 417 F.2d 129, 131 (5th Cir. 

1969)).  

If the state law upon which Plaintiff’s prayer for relief rests does not contain the rights 

and obligations that Plaintiff claims it does, then it is with legal certainty that Plaintiff will fail at 

recovering any of the amount of alleged damages as stated in its complaint. See Pachinger v. 

MGM Grand Hotel-Las Vegas, Inc., 802 F.2d 362, 364 (9th Cir. 1986) (ruling that the legal 

certainty standard is met if a specific rule of law limits or does not otherwise allow the recovery 

sought). Moreover, federal courts are required to exercise restraint in the reach of their 

jurisdiction out of deference to state courts and limit otherwise frequent and unnecessary access 

to the federal court system through diversity jurisdiction. See Healy v. Ratta, 292 U.S. 263, 270; 

54 S.Ct. 700, 703 (1934) (stating of the amount in controversy requirement that Congress’ intent 

was to limit narrow federal jurisdiction over cases otherwise heard by state courts and ruled, 

“[t]he power reserved to the states, under the Constitution (Amendment 10), to provide for the 

determination of controversies in their courts, may be restricted only the action of Congress in 

conformity to the judiciary sections of the Constitution (article 3). Due regard for the rightful 

independence of state governments, which should actuate federal courts, requires that they 

scrupulously confine their own jurisdiction to the precise limits which the statute has defined.” 

(internal citations omitted)); see also Lorraine Motors, Inc., v. Aetna Casualty and Surety 

Company, et. al., 166 F. Supp. 319, 321 and 322 (E.D.N.Y. 1958) (ruling, “[o]f course, the 

purpose of making the amount in controversy in a case determinative of jurisdiction has always 

been to prevent the dockets of the federal courts from being overcrowded with small cases which 

should be brought in the State courts which are fully equipped to decide such cases.” Also 

noting, “[i]t is known that ‘the dominant note in the successive enactments of Congress relating 
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to diversity jurisdiction is one of jealous restriction, of avoiding offense to state sensitiveness, 

and of relieving the federal courts of the overwhelming burden of ‘business that intrinsically 

belongs to the state courts in order to keep them free for their distinctive federal business.’” 

(internal citations omitted)). 

For the amount in controversy to be sufficient to satisfy the jurisdictional requirements 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a), there must at least be a valid legal basis on the face of the complaint 

supporting that amount alleged. Plaintiff’s position under NRS § 116.3116 is wholly misplaced 

and evidences a clear misunderstanding of its application. Second, at least some prospect of 

Plaintiff recovering more than $75,000.00 must appear in the allegations in the Complaint. Yet, 

Plaintiff’s Complaint actually acknowledges that it has not yet incurred any such damages and 

provides no other factual basis that would support a recovery of more than $75,000.00. Lastly, 

the amount of assessments that constitute the super-priority lien under NRS 116.3116 cannot be 

determined until an otherwise superior lienholder forecloses its interest in a property subject to 

the super-priority lien. Therefore, any argument by Plaintiff that it has a right to redeem the 

super-priority lien amount prior to foreclosure is not ripe until a foreclosing event triggers the 

super-priority lien.  

Plaintiff’s Complaint fails to assert sufficiently any basis for the requisite recovery under 

28 U.S.C. § 1332(a). The only allegation in Plaintiff’s Complaint regarding the value of the 

damages incurred by Plaintiff is in paragraph 44, which states, “[t]he amount in controversy 

exceeds $75,000.00 because, as shown below, the value of the object of this litigation—clear, 

marketable title for real property securing hundreds of mortgage loans—exceeds $75,000.00.” 

This allegation serves as the only allegation in the complaint that purports to support any damage 

claim. Yet, this allegation is merely self serving for the purpose of giving the appearance of an 

actual amount in controversy without actually pleading that amount.  

 If marketable title to all of the properties that Plaintiff services is the object of the 

litigation, then Plaintiff has at least a minimal responsibility to provide some factual background 

or basis as to how marketable value is determined and to what extent marketable title is devalued 

as a result of the Super Priority Lien. There is no methodology provided as to how the value of 
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marketability is calculated. There is nothing in the Complaint that suggests that Plaintiff has lost 

a sale as a result of the Super Priority Lien. There are no facts that allege that one foreclosure of 

a deed of trust it services would have sold for more than another in the absence of the super-

priority lien nor is there any factual allegation that Plaintiff as the servicer of any deeds of trust 

has been prevented from carrying out its duties or responsibilities as the servicer. In fact, on the 

issue of amount in controversy, Plaintiff’s Complaint contains nothing more than an all too 

convenient statement that marketability is worth more than $75,000.00.   A complaint invoking 

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a) that is based exclusively on state law must be accountable 

to some standard of pleading beyond what Plaintiff has displayed in this case. A mere statement 

as to an unsupported value of marketability does not pass even the legal certainty test as set forth 

above.  

In addition, Plaintiff did not allege any actual damages. Plaintiff argues that the amounts 

that the Defendants are charging under the super-priority lien exceed the amounts permitted 

under NRS § 116.3116. However, Plaintiff has not actually paid any of these amounts. As 

Plaintiff states in its Complaint, the trustees “rejected tender of the payment by BAC that would 

have satisfied the full lien amount[.]” Complaint ¶ 66. Furthermore, unless and until it becomes 

the owner of a property subject to a Super Priority Lien, Plaintiff is not liable for any of the 

amounts owing under the Super Priority Lien.  As such, there is no way that Plaintiff can recover 

any amounts close to more than $75,000.00 in actual damages based on the allegations as pled by 

Plaintiff. 

 Finally, although not a 9th Circuit case, Middle Tennessee News Co., Inc. v. Charnel of 

Cincinnati, Inc., 250 F.3d 1077 (7th Cir. 2001) holds that a Plaintiff normally cannot aggregate 

the amount owed by each defendant to satisfy the amount in controversy requirement. It states, 

“[i]n diversity cases, when there are two or more defendants, plaintiff may aggregate the amount 

against the defendants to satisfy the amount in controversy requirement only if the defendants are 

jointly liable; however, if the defendants are severally liable, plaintiff must satisfy the amount in 

controversy requirement against each individual defendant.”  Here, Plaintiff is unable to satisfy 

the amount in controversy as Plaintiff cannot aggregate the amounts against the Defendants.
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For the reasons above, this Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint for lack of 

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C § 1332(a). 

4. This Court should allow Nevada State Courts and other State Proceedings to Decide 
the Scope and Application of NRS 116.3116. 

As stated in Healy, supra, this Court’s jurisdiction should be restrained and allow Nevada

state courts to determine the merits of any arguments under NRS § 116.3116. The extent and 

scope of NRS § 116.3116 is currently the basis of numerous Nevada state court actions and 

arbitration proceedings and will undoubtedly be decided by the Nevada Supreme Court. A few 

of those currently pending cases or arbitration proceedings include: Higher Ground, et al. v. 

Nevada Association Services, et al., Clark County Case No. A609031, Higher Ground, et al. v. 

Aliante Master Association, et al., Clark County Case No. A-10-608741-C, Edgewater Equities, 

LLC v. Alessi & Koenig, LLC, et. al., Clark County Case No. A607221, Prem Deferred Trust, et 

al. v. Nevada Association Services, et al., Clark County Case No. A608112, and Elkhorn 

Community Association v. Valenzuela, et al., Clark County Case No. A-10-607051-C.1

1 At this time, all of these cases have been dismissed by the District Court pursuant to NRS 38.310 and are 
proceeding through arbitration, except Elkhorn Community Association.

To

resolve these cases, it is paramount that Nevada state courts be allowed to speak as to the 

application and scope of NRS § 116.3116 without concern of conflicting rulings from the federal 

courts. NRS § 116.3116 is an act of the Nevada legislature and any ambiguity as to its meaning 

or basis for its application should be left to the courts of Nevada. In conjunction with the 

discussion above, this Court should exercise the restraint as pronounced by the United States 

Supreme Court in Healy, and dismiss the Plaintiff’s Complaint.
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IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendants respectfully request that this Court dismiss the 

Complaint as this matter is not ripe for judicial determination.  Alternatively, Defendants request 

dismissal of the Complaint on the basis that Plaintiff failed to adequately plead or satisfy the 

amount in controversy and, as set forth in Healy, this Court’s jurisdiction should be restrained 

and allow Nevada state courts to determine the merits, if any, of any arguments regarding the 

interpretation and application of NRS § 116.3116.

DATED this 23rd day of March, 2011. 

LIPSON NEILSON COLE SELTZER & 
GARIN, P.C.

Kaleb Anderson, Esq.  
_/s/Kaleb Anderson__

Nevada Bar No. 007582 
9080 W. Post Rd. #100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148
Phone: (702)382-1500 
Attorneys for Anthem Highlands Community 
Association and Homeowner Association 
Services, Inc.    

DATED: March 23, 2011. 

LEACH JOHNSON SONG & GRUCHOW 

Sean Anderson 
_/s/Sean Anderson_______

Nevada Bar No.7259 
Ryan Reed 
Nevada Bar No.11695 
8945 West Russell Road, Suite 330 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148
Phone: (702) 538-9074 
Attorneys for LJS&G

DATED: March 23, 2011. 

ALVERSON, TAYLOR, MORTENSEN & 
SANDERS

Kurt Bonds,  Esq.   
_/s/Kurt Bonds, Esq. ___

Nevada Bar No. 006228 
7401 West Charleston Blvd  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 
Phone: (702) 384-7000 
Attorney for Heritage Square South HOA, 
Aliante Master Association & Elkhorn 
Community Association   

DATED: March 23, 2011. 

LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD VILKIN 
P.C.

_/s/Richard Vilkin
Richard Vilkin, Esq.   

______

Nevada Bar No. 008301 
1286 Crimson Sage Avenue  
Henderson, Nevada 89012 
Phone: (702)476-3211 
Attorney for Nevada Association Services, Inc.  

DATED: March 23, 2011. 
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KERN & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 

Gayle A. Kern, Esq.  
/s/Gayle A, Kern, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 1620 
Kern & Associates, Ltd.
5421 Kietzke Lane Suite 200 
Reno, Nevada  89511 
(775) 324-6173 fax 
gaylekern@kernltd.com
Attorney for Stonefield II Homeowners 
Association and Phil Frink & Associates, Inc. 

DATED: March 23, 2011. 

WOLF RIFKIN SHAPIRO SCHULMAN & 
RABKIN, LLP

Don Springmeyer, Esq.  
__/s/Don Springmeyer _______

Nevada Bar No. 001021 
3556 E. Russell Road, 2nd Floor  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89120
Phone: (702)341-5200 
Attorney for Sierra Ranch Homeowners 
Association, Cortez Heights HOA, Elkhorn 
Cimarron Estates, Mountain’s Edge Master 
Association and Montecito at Mountain’s 
Edge, and K.G.D.O. Holding Company, Inc., 
d/b/a Terra West Property Management  

DATED: March 23, 2011.

RMI MANAGEMENT, INC. d/b/a RED 
ROCK FINANCIAL SERVICES 

Christopher V. Yergensen, Esq.  
/s/Christopher V. Yergensen, Esq. __

Nevada Bar No. 6183 
1797 Mezza Court  
Henderson, Nevada 89012 
Phone: (702)940-7110 
Attorney for RMI d/b/a Red Rock Financial 
Services 

DATED: March 23, 2011. 
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Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), the undersigned, an employee of LEACH JOHNSON SONG & 

GRUCHOW, hereby certified that on the 23rd day of March, 2011, she served a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing, 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

MOTION TO DISMISS by:

X 
Nevada
Depositing for mailing, in a sealed envelope, U.S. postage prepaid, at Las Vegas, 

X 

Personal Delivery

Electronic Service via CM/ECF System 

Facsimile

 Federal Express/Airborne Express/Other Overnight Delivery 

Las Vegas Messenger Service

addressed as follows: 

Ariel E. Stern, Esq. 
Diana S. Erb, Esq.  
AKERMAN SENTERFITT LLP 
400 South Fourth Street, Suite 450 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Fax: (702)380-8572 
Email: ariel.stern@akerman.com
Email: Diana.erb@akerman.com

An Employee of LEACH JOHNSON SONG & 
GRUCHOW

/s/Cindy Hoss      
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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
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                    Plaintiff,
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                    Defendant.

)
)
)
)
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)
)
)
)
)
)
)
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Las Vegas, Nevada; Tuesday, January 14, 2020 

[Proceeding commenced at 1:00 p.m.] 

THE COURT CLERK:  Case A685203 Melissa Lieberman 

versus Madeira Canyon Community Association.  

THE COURT:  All right.  And of course, Counsel, if you can 

make your appearances.  

MR. HONG:  Yes, good afternoon, Your Honor, Joseph Hong 

for NV Eagles.  

MR. GARNER:  Good afternoon, Your Honor, Rex Garner on 

behalf of Bank of New York Mellon and Bank of America and with me is 

Ms. Diane Deloney from Bank of America.  

again, please? 

-E-L-O-N-E-Y. 

THE COURT:  Deloney, okay.  Okay, I did recei

of course that there should have been, but sometimes there are, 

ed 

trial briefs on this one, but we did get the stipulated facts, right? 

MR. HONG:  Correct, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  And, the stipulated facts indicate on page  

four -- or paragraph 18, the parties stipulate to admit exhibits 1 through 

16.  So, let me see what I have here.  Oh look at that, 1 through 16.  So, 
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that means this binder would be admitted by stipulation; is that it? 

MR. GARNER:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  Okay, 1 through 16 are admitted by agreement.  

[EXHIBITS 1 THROUGH 16 ADMITTED]

THE COURT:  And, do you all want to do little miniature 

openings to identify the remaining parties, remaining claims -- 

MR. HONG:  Sure.  

THE COURT:  -- and any sort of overview of what your case is 

about? 

MR. HONG:  Sure, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

OPENING STATEMENT FOR THE PLAINTIFF

BY MR. HONG:   

So, Your Honor, the remaining claims are between NV Eagles 

LLC, the owner of the subject property, against Bank of America and 

Bank of New York Mellon, who held the deed of trust at the time of the 

HOA foreclosure sale.  And, the issue in this case is the claim by Bank 

of America, Bank of New York Mellon, that there was an attempt at 

tender of the super-priority amount prior to the sale and rejection of 

same.  Th

So, as in the past -- 

THE COURT:  Is that an affirmative defense or is that a -- do 

they have a counterclaim? 

MR. HONG:  Well, this is where it gets interesting and --  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. HONG:  -- I -- be just making a oral motion 

or a written, whatever Your Honor prefers, for a directed verdict based 

-- this is kind of an unusual case where the cases got 

consolidated.  Two cases got consolidated into this, but -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MR. HONG:  -- 

tender.  And, the cross-claim -- so the claim by the bank -- banks against 

NV Eagles, there is a tender in there.  But, that was filed on 7/12 of 

2019, Your Honor.  And -- 

THE COURT:  Okay, hold on just a second.  I have a whole 

chronology of these pleadings here, so let me find that one.  

MR. HONG:  Right.  

THE COURT:  What date did you say that was again, please? 

MR. HONG:  7/12 of 2019.  

-claim against NV Eagles 

July 12th -claims for quiet title declaratory relief.  You 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

the claim is barred by the statute of limitations because the HOA sale 

occurred on 6/7/2013.  So, even if we took the longest of the potential 

-- 
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THE COURT:  Did we do anything on a -- any kind of written 

motions on this yet? 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And, this was not brought up until now?  

st asking you a question in case --  

THE COURT:  Okay, I just want to see if we missed it or 

anything so -- 

MR. HONG:  No.  No, -- 

THE COURT:  Do you know about this, Mr. Garner, or is this 

MR. GARNER:  Well, the -- I think probably what you have in 

front of you is a list of a lot of pleadings.  This case started by the 

homeowner against the HOA and others and then, you know, we were 

brought in with -- 

THE COURT:  It was a pro per Plaintiff initially, I think.  

THE COURT:  Pro per Plaintiff initially.  

MR. GARNER:  Right.  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. GARNER:  Right, and then through a handful of 

counterclaims, cross-claims, etcetera -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MR. GARNER:  -- is when -- 

good list of them here.  
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MR. GARNER:  Yeah.  

MR. HONG:  Yeah.  So, to make it simple, Your Honor, what 

happened was this present case initiated by Melissa Lieberman was 

brought and then subsequent to that NV Eagles brought a separate 

action against the banks.  That separate action got consolidated into 

this.  But, that separate action, the pleadings are very minimal, very 

minimal, I mean, I think maybe six or seven pleadings there.   

So, the history of this case stands with this current case 

number th

THE COURT:  Yep.  

-claims -- well, the first 

cross-claim against NV Eagles, again Your Honor, was September 12th, 

2019 -- th, 2019.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MR. HONG:  -- I mean, the record is the record. 

was raised.  

-- what is that, a motion to, 

you said, directed verdict or -- 

-- yeah, 

no possible relief the bank could -- 

statute of limitations
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-- yeah.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MR. HONG:  And, we can brief that and get that to the Court 

limitations argum -- it goes either three or 

four, the catch-all, or five.  

THE COURT:  You know, I got to tell you though, that may be 

them -- 

MR. HONG:  Oh, okay.  

THE COURT:  -- just because -- 

MR. HONG:  Sure.  

THE COURT:  -- -- 

MR. HONG:  Right.  

THE COURT:  -- 1400 cases -- 

MR. HONG:  Sure, sure, sure.  

THE COURT:  -- you know and -- 

MR. HONG:  Sure.  

THE COURT:  -- you know, thing after thing after thing all the 

time -- 

MR. HONG:  Sure.  

THE COURT:  -- 

MR. HONG:  Sure.  

THE COURT:  I mean, do you -- can you give -- can you 

represent to me what I did do in a similar case, because I would want to 

be consistent?  Did I -- what statute did I apply? 
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MR. HONG:  I -- well, the statute that I believe that you applied 

regarding HERA was not the three, I believe it was -- no, no, no, 

sorry, in the most recent ruling on a case like this -- 

THE COURT:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. HONG:  -- Your Honor, I believe, held the three-year, 

potentially four, but that statute of limitations was stayed because the 

case was stayed.  It was tolled because the underlying case was stayed 

for a period of I believe like a year and a half, two years, or whatnot.  

THE COURT:  Okay, you think the triggering event is the HOA 

sale? 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

th

MR. HONG:  Right, so -- 

THE COURT:  So, six years plus -- 

MR. HONG:  Well -- 

THE COURT:  -- a few months -- plus a month and a half go 

by before the cross-claim.  

of limitations.  Three being, when you challenge a statute like NRS 116, 

saying hey, that did not wipe away our deed of trust.  There -year 

catch- -year quiet 

title.  So, even if we went with the longest of those three, five -- 

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. HONG:  -- -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  
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MR. HONG:  -- outside, so -- 

THE COURT:  All right.  

MR. HONG:  But again, we can brief that within two hours 

because I think today is going to be really short even, because 

tomorrow, for housekeeping, Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. HONG:  -- I think today, Counsel wanted to call the Bank 

of America representative.  And 

then the representative for NAS.  But, for sake of judicial economy, I 

the -- on however we want to couch the motion to dismiss or a directed 

verdict or however.  -- -- 

THE COURT:  Well, yeah, it would be short-circuited if I 

s just going to say go ahead and 

grant it.  So -- 

MR. HONG:  No, of course not.  Of course not, so -- 

THE COURT:  -- t -circuiting that I see there.  

on that one.  

THE COURT:  Short-circuiting would be if you stipulated 

anything for tomorrow, but -- 

MR. HONG:  If -- 

THE COURT:  -- -- 

be today with the bank witness and then tomorrow you have a couple 

live witnesses? 
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MR. GARNER:  Correct.  

MR. HONG:  Two witnesses, right.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay.  

MR. HONG:  So -- 

THE COURT:  What time are we supposed to start tomorrow? 

MR. HONG:  9:00.  

THE COURT:  Can we start a little bit later than that?  Does 

anybody have a problem with that? 

MR. GARNER:  How much later, Your Honor? 

THE COURT:  10:00?  9:30? 

MR. GARNER:  Definitely I think 9:30 would be fine.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. GARNER:  -- because -- yeah the NAS witness needs to 

go early and then we have Mr. Jung -- 

THE COURT:  Okay, so 9:30 is okay? 

MR. HONG:  9:30 is fine.  

MR. GARNER:  9:30 is fine with us.  

-- 

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  -- not 9:00.  

MR. HONG:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Okay? 

MR. HONG:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  And then -- okay, well I mean, you made a oral 

motion -- 
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MR. HONG:  Right.  

THE COURT:  -- to essentially dismiss the case. 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  Anything else you want to add to that? 

MR. HONG:  Well, not dismiss the case; 

claims against my client.  

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  So -- 

MR. HONG:  Right.  

THE COURT:  -- they -- 

get rid of the affirmative defense of tender -- 

MR. HONG:  Right.  

THE COURT:  -- it be that -- 

MR. HONG:  Right.  

THE COURT:  -- in your -- 

likewise bring a tender affirmative defense? 

MR. HONG:  Well, the affirmative defense was never raised 

in this case, or the other case, as to my client is a cross-

cross-claim.  So -- 

THE COURT:  Okay, so what relief are you asking for then? 

probably be more appropriate.  

THE COURT:  Well, you want to dismiss the cross-claim? 

MR. HONG:  Right, which would then, in essence, support a 

directed verdict, because there -- then there would be no claims against 
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my client.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  But, you have your own complaint 

asking for quiet title -- 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  -- against the bank, right? 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

-- 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  -- case? 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  So, likewise, they would be precluded from 

bringing that -- 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  -- affirmative defense concerning your 

complaint? 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

 the 

cross-claim and -- 

MR. HONG:  Enter. 

THE COURT:  -- preclude the tender defense? 

MR. HONG:  Correct.  

-- as a affirmative defense on your 

complaint? 

MR. HONG:  Correct --  
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THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MR. HONG:  -- because 

defense in this case.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, so Mr. Garner, you want to -- 

do you want to say anything about that now, or do you want this to be in 

e-style 

motion with a -- on the first day of trial.  

MR. GARNER:  I have some suggestions.  I can address it 

now.  I would like to see it in writing because I think we have several 

different statutes of 

have all of the pleadings in front of me.  

THE COURT:  Mm-hmm. 

individual pretrial memo -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. GARNER:  -- that we did assert the affirmative defense of 

THE COURT:  Okay, I mean, you know, a thought comes to 

MR. HONG:  Well -- 

THE COURT:  I mean really -- 

MR. HONG:  -- right.  

THE COURT:  -- 
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depending on the result do the case?  I mean, why call three witnesses 

over two days and then bring a case dispositive motion?  Why not do the 

motion first?  Does that present a hardship to anybody? 

MR. GARNER:  It -- it would because we have Ms. Deloney 

here came from Texas.  

THE COURT:  Okay, well -- 

MR. GARNER:  And so -- 

THE COURT:  -- yeah.  

MR. GARNER:  -- -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. GARNER:  -- -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. GARNER:  -- by these cases, and so, you know I -- plus, I 

brought here today.  But, I think we can have some of it figured out, you 

know, by tomorrow, but all of these witnesses combined, Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. GARNER:  -- will maybe take an hour, an hour and a half.  

MR. HONG:  Right.  

already lined them up -- 

ng that question.  

MR. GARNER:  Yeah.  

THE COURT:  And, lawyers could say, you know what, fine, 
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know Ms. Deloney was here from Texas.  

MR. GARNER:  Mm-hmm. 

[Colloquy between counsel and representative] 

THE COURT:  But, 

Ms. Deloney testify today -- 

MR. HONG:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  -- because she made the trip.  

MR. HONG:  Sure.  

THE COURT:  Anything you want to say about the case, 

separ

be in writing and -- 

MR. HONG:  Yeah.  

THE COURT:  -- all that? 

-- 

HOA foreclosure case and the claim by the bank as to why the deed of 

trust was not extinguished is based on the attempt to tender.  

in writing to look for it and all that, so -- 

MR. HONG:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Okay, Mr. Garner, you want to give an opening 

or -- 

MR. GARNER:  Yeah.  

THE COURT:  -- 

at, again, separate and distinct from any motion to dismiss concepts? 
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OPENING STATEMENT FOR THE DEFENSE

BY MR. GARNER:   

Right, your guess probably is as good as mine as to, you 

are left.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. GARNER:  So, whatever happens at the end of this case, 

s entered, we should probably clean 

that up for her, you know, at least to make a clear record.   

aightforward 

HOA foreclosure case involving tender by the bank.  The original loan for 

this house, which is at 2184 Pont National Drive, in the Madeira Canyon 

-- 

THE COURT:  Yep.  

MR. GARNER:  -- 2006, Melissa Lieberman, who was a party 

initially to this case, no longer around, borrowed roughly half a million 

dollars to buy that house in 2006.  Bank of America serviced that loan, 

y

relevant to us today.  And around 2010, four or so years after Ms. 

Lieberman bought this house, she fell behind on HOA dues, so the HOA 

records -- hires NAS, starts the whole process with a notice of 

delinquent assessment lien, then a notice of default, those are admitted 

exhibits.  
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THE COURT:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. GARNER:  The first notice that gets sent to the servicer, 

in other cases, and as you will see in this case, nothing in the notice of 

default says anything about super-priority, provides a number, or even a 

method by which it could be calculated.  So, Bank of America, per its 

policy, practice and procedure, hires Miles Bauer to find out what the 

super-priority is and to pay it.  Exhibit 9, Your Honor, is the usual Miles 

Jung in the morning.   

This is one of the rare instances, Your Honor, where -- 

THE COURT:  They actually sent the ledger. 

THE COURT:  That they actually sent a payoff ledger.  

MR. GARNER:  Well, even before that, this is one of the rare 

instances, Your Honor, where the first letter -- because Miles Bauer 

would send two, the first letter introducing themselves saying give us a 

payoff, 

instances, where at least was during a time when NAS was providing 

some information.  

So, what they gave to us was their own ledger that showed a 

handful of quarterly assessments.  Miles Bauer used this -- of course, 

-
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anywhere.  So, Miles Bauer calculates the super-priority, has Bank of 

America wire the funds, and cuts a check, and delivers it per its policy 

and practice by runner.  

And, as you will hear from both Mr. Jung and Ms. Moses, the 

usual practice at the NAS office, when these checks would come in by 

not the total amount due, and it came with that normal Miles Bauer letter, 

 it 

-- and, it 

instead, other than the entire amount, which is not the super-priority.  

Foreclosure moves forward.  Couple years later, the notice of 

sale is recorded.  That is also an admitted exhibit.  And, this notice of 

sale, like all the others in these types of cases, promises the bidder 

nothing.  You are going to purchase this property without covenant or 

warranty what

Auction occurs in June 2013, the opening bid was roughly 

$8,000.  A company called Underwood Partners wins the bidding at 

e fair market value at 

$430,000 which means the auction price is roughly 7 percent of fair 

market value.  Even the foreclosure deed has attached to it that 

admitted exhibit as well, shows that the transfer tax value on that form 

was also significantly higher than the winning bid of $30,000.   

And then, eventually -- well, and the deed that transfers title to 
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Underwood, the winning bidder, comes with no guarantees, no 

covenants, no warranties, no assurances that their title is clear.  Later, 

you will hear from anyone from Underwood or from NV Eagles.  

And at the end of the case, Your Honor, Bank of New York 

Mellon, who is the record beneficiary, will ask you to find in its favor, that 

the HOA sale did not affect the first deed of trust, and that Plaintiff, both 

Underwood, and then by extension, NV Eagles, purchased that property 

subject to the deed of trust.  

THE COURT:  All right, thank you.  And, as far as witnesses 

and all, do you want to defer or allow for the calling of a witness out of 

order?  Are you going to call her as a witness or -- 

MR. HONG:  No, no, no, Your Honor, well -- 

however Counsel wants to call their witnesses.  

THE COURT:  Okay, so you have -- you do have witnesses 

then? 

MR. HONG:  No.  

THE COURT:  None? 

MR. HONG:  No, just rest on the stip.  

THE COURT:  Oh, so the Plaintiff rests?  Okay. 

MR. HONG:  Right, based on the admitted -- stipulated, 

admitted documents specifically -- 

THE COURT:  Right, the Plaintiff can rest based upon the 

admitted exhibits and what have you. 

MR. HONG:  Yeah, specifically, 3, 4, 5, and 6.  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. HONG:  Yeah.  

THE COURT:  All right, so the Plaintiff, based upon the 

admission of the 16 exhibits has rested.  Defense, any witnesses or 

evidence? 

MR. GARNER:  Yes, defense calls Diane Deloney.  

THE COURT:  Okay, Ms. Deloney, come on up to the witness 

box area, please.  When you arrive there, if you could remain standing 

in.  

DIANE DELONEY

[Having been called as a witness and being first duly sworn, testified as 

follows:] 

THE COURT CLERK:  Thank you, please be seated.  If you 

could, please state and spell your first and last name for the record.  

THE WITNESS:  -I-A-N-E, D-E-L-O-

N-E-Y. 

THE COURT CLERK:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Okay, Mr. Garner, go ahead.  

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. GARNER:   

 Q Thank you, Your Honor.  

Judge what you do for a living? 

 A 
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President Mortgage Resolution Associate.  

 Q How long have you been that? 

 A done that now for ten, 11 years.  

 Q Okay, and generally speaking, what are your job duties? 

 A Well, I appear on behalf of the bank at trials, mediations, and 

depositions.  I am -- also handle portfolio of loans that are in litigation, 

doing research, document preparation, things like that.  

 Q Very good.  And, as it relates to residential mortgages, 

generally speaking, what is the business of Bank of America? 

 A Residential mortgages, we originate loans and we also service 

loans.  

 Q Okay.  And, when Bank of America services a loan, what are 

its general duties? 

 A Generally servicing entails the first contact with the borrower, 

accept payments, pay taxes, pay insurance, any phone calls or 

correspondence the borrower sent to the bank to handle, just the -- 

basically daily duties like that.  

 Q Okay.  And, as it relates to Nevada HOA cases, approximately 

how many times have you testified? 

 A Many times, maybe 40, 50 times.  

 Q 

that brings us here today? 

 A Bank of America was the servicer of the loan until June of 

2013.  

 Q Okay.  When did it start servicing? 
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 A Shortly after it originated.  

 Q Okay.  As a consequence of testifying on behalf of Bank of 

America in roughly 40 Nevada HOA cases, have you become familiar 

with the policies, practices, and procedure of Bank of America as it 

relates to HOA foreclosure notices in roughly 2010 to 2013? 

 A Yes.  

 Q Briefly tell the Judge what that policy and practice was.  

 A Basically, we would receive the notice of sale, it would be 

routed to what we call our litigation group, who then would hire local 

counsel to reach out to the HOA, or their collection agency, to obtain the 

super-priority portion to protect our lien.  We would then wire funds to 

counsel in order for them to pay that lien amount.  

 Q 

foreclosure in this case? 

 A I have.  

 Q And, to what extent did Bank of America follow that policy, 

practice, and procedure here? 

 A According to my review of the documents, we followed it as 

normal.  

 Q And, what documents did you review to confirm that? 

 A I reviewed our servicing records, I reviewed our image 

documents, the loan payment history, the -- I saw the notices of sale and 

the notices of default, and the Miles Bauer documents.  

 Q Okay.  And based on that review, how would you describe 

-priority in this case? 
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 A Oh, we were willing and able.  

 Q Thank you very much for your time. 

THE COURT:  All right, Mr. Hong, questions for Ms. Deloney? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION

 Q Thank you, Your Honor.  

Hi, Ms. Deloney.  I understand your testimony as to Bank of 

America sending funds to its counsel Miles Bauer, to protect the deed of 

trust, correct? 

 A Yes.  

 Q Okay, but you have no independent recollection or knowledge 

that Miles Bauer actually followed through, correct? 

 A What do you mean?  That they actually remitted the funds to 

the collection agency? 

 Q Correct.  

 A According to my review of the records, yes, that -- 

 Q The -- 

 A -- they did.  

 Q -- 

records? 

 A Both.  

 Q So, and is it fair to say the Bank of America records would be 

the records that was received, some kind of communications or 

something received from Miles Bauer? 

 A Yes.  

 Q -- 
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Bank of America records that can confirm the remittance, correct? 

 A Not to my knowledge. 

 Q So, based strictly on any records or communications that 

came from Miles Bauer, right? 

 A Yes.  

 Q 

THE COURT:  All right, Mr. Garner, any follow-up? 

MR. GARNER:  Nothing further.  

THE COURT:  Okay, Ms. Deloney, thanks for your testimony, 

y other witnesses or evidence from the defense? 

MR. GARNER:  None today, Your Honor. 

-- 

MR. HONG:  9:30? 

THE COURT:  -- 9:30.  And, what are we going to have at 

9:30 tomorrow then? 

MR. GARNER:  9:30 we begin with Susan Moses from NAS. 

THE COURT:  Okay, 9:30 -- you got this right, Mr. Hong? 

MR. HONG:  Yeah, oh yeah, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Okay, 9:30, Ms. Moses. 

MR. GARNER:  And then, right after Ms. Moses, presuming -- 

by -- 

THE COURT:  Mr. -- 

MR. GARNER:  -- 10-
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And then, defense plans to rest. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. HONG:  And, Yo

the written motion filed.  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. HONG:  Okay. 

MR. HONG:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Judge. 

MS. DELONEY:  Thank you. 

[Proceeding concluded at 1:27 p.m.] 

* * * * * * * 

ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed 
the audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my 
ability. 

_________________________ 
Kaihla Berndt 
Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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Las Vegas, Nevada; Wednesday, January 15, 2020 

 

[Proceeding commenced at 9:37 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  All right, let’s see.  Okay, we’re on the record 

and I did receive a pleading from Mr. Hong’s side here.  It’s motion for 

judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50.  And then, there’s an 

opposition too.  I have to say, I haven’t had a lot of chance to read it all 

or look at it all -- 

  MR. GARNER:  Understood.  

  THE COURT:  -- but we have to figure out when I’m going to 

do that.   

  MR. GARNER:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  But, we’re going to have all the witnesses and 

then go from there anyway -- 

  MR. GARNER:  Perfect.  

  THE COURT:  -- because people are on timelines now.  

  MR. HONG:  Right.  

  THE COURT:  And, I appreciate that we started right around 

9:30 today.  I needed the extra time today so that’s great.  

  MR. GARNER:  Very good.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, ready to go? 

  MR. GARNER:  Yes, defense calls -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  -- Susan Moses.  

  THE COURT:  All right.  
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[Colloquy between the Court and the Court Clerk] 

  THE COURT:  Ms. Moses.  

SUSAN MOSES 

[Having been called as a witness and being first duly sworn, testified as 

follows:] 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Thank you, please be seated.  If you 

could, please state and spell your first and last name for the record.  

  THE WITNESS:  Susan Moses, S-U-S-A-N, M-O-S-E-S. 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  All right, Mr. Garner.  

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GARNER:  

 Q Thank you, Judge. 

  Ms. Moses, good morning.  

 A Good morning.  

 Q I know we’ve done this before, probably in front of this Judge, 

among others, but we’ll be as efficient as we can without compromising 

completeness.  Why don’t you start by telling the Judge what you do for 

work? 

 A I am the Paralegal and Custodian of Records for Nevada 

Association Services.  

 Q How long have you been doing that? 

 A Since June of 2015. 

 Q Okay.  And do you also appear for depositions and trials on 

behalf of NAS? 
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 A I do. 

 Q Okay.  Back in -- and the business of NAS is what? 

 A We are a collection agent for HOAs. 

 Q Okay.  Back in 2010, do you have an estimate for how many 

HOAs NAS was doing collection work for? 

 A No.  

 Q Okay.  Was Madeira Canyon HOA one of them? 

 A Yes.  

 Q Okay.  The exhibit binder should be right in front of you, and I 

want to start with Exhibit 3.   

 A Okay. 

 Q Can you tell us what this is? 

 A This is the recorded Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien. 

 Q Okay.  And, can you tell by looking at that how -- what the 

monthly or quarterly assessments were at the time? 

 A There’s no breakdown of the amounts due.  

 Q Okay.  Does it list any sort of super-priority amount? 

 A There’s nothing on the document that discusses super-priority.  

 Q All right.  Flip to Exhibit 4 and tell us what that is.  

 A This is the recorded Notice of Default.  

 Q Okay.  And, how much was owed on the account at that point? 

 A $3,112.73. 

 Q Can you tell from looking at this what portion of that was 

assessments? 

 A There’s no breakdown of the amounts due? 
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 Q Okay.  Any mention of super-priority? 

 A There’s nothing in the document that discusses super-priority.  

 Q Okay.  Is the Notice of Default usually the first document in the 

process that goes to the first deed of trust holder? 

 A Typically. 

 Q Okay.  And, the contact information in this notice is for NAS, 

correct? 

 A Correct.  

 Q All right.  Now, during the years, let’s say 2010 to 2013, did 

NAS have conversations with a law firm called Miles Bauer? 

 A We did. 

 Q Okay.  And, was it related to HOA liens? 

 A Yes. 

 Q All right.  Did you ever get requests from Miles Bauer law firm 

for account statements or ledgers? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay.  If we look at Exhibit 11, which is the -- NAS’s file, I’d 

like you to turn to the Bates labels on the bottom right at page 202.  

 A Okay. 

 Q Can you tell us what this and page 203 is? 

 A This is correspondence from Miles Bauer, Bergstrom & 

Winters to Nevada Association Services. 

 Q Okay.  And, did you -- did NAS understand from this letter that 

Miles Bauer law firm was seeking information about the account? 

 A Yes. 
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 Q Okay.  And then, if you look one more page at 204 we also 

see an email request from the Miles Bauer law firm? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  And at this time in March of 2000 -- February and 

March of 2011, how was NAS handling or responding to such requests? 

 A NAS would provide an email such as the one on 205 with a 

copy of the ledger on 206 and 207. 

 Q Okay.  And, if we look at the ledger at 206 to 207, do you see 

on there where it -- does it list at all a super-priority number? 

 A There’s nothing in the ledger that discusses super-priority.  

 Q Okay.  And then, on the first page, 206, there’re a handful of 

columns under -- they’re all listed as amount and then underneath them 

they have present rate and then the rest are prior rates; do you see 

those columns? 

 A I do.  

 Q Can you tell by looking at this what dates those prior rates 

apply to? 

 A No. 

 Q Okay.  And, during that same timeframe, 2010 to 2013, did 

Miles Bauer ever through runners deliver checks with letters? 

 A Yes. 

 Q And, how was -- how did NAS typically handle those 

deliveries? 

 A If there were conditions on the checks, then NAS would not 

accept them. 
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 Q Okay.  And, was a copy made of the letters and checks? 

 A No. 

 Q Okay.  Was notation made in the log that those things were 

delivered? 

 A No. 

 Q Okay.  Was it usually someone at reception who would 

analyze it and return it? 

 A I don’t know how that process happened. 

 Q Okay.  And the typical Miles Bauer letter that you’ve probably 

seen in depositions and trials, I call it the second letter; are you familiar 

with that letter? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay.  And that’s the letter that NAS believed had 

impermissible conditions? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  So, if a check came for any amount that was less than 

full payoff, with that letter, what was NAS’s policy? 

 A It’s the fact that there were conditions, that’s what would -- 

that’s what would cause NAS to reject the payment were the conditions.  

 Q Okay.  Let’s look at 303 in that same Exhibit 11.   

 A Okay. 

 Q Can you tell us what this is? 

 A This is NAS’s sales script.  

 Q So, the big paragraph on that page is what the crier or 

auctioneer would say at a sale? 
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 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  Including this second-to-last -- or these last few 

sentences, this property’s being sold on an as-is basis and the sale 

would remain without covenant, or warranty, express or implied? 

 A Correct. 

 Q And then, there’s an opening bid for roughly $8,600; you see 

that? 

 A I do. 

 Q How was that calculated? 

 A If you look at BANA 301 -- 

 Q Mm-hmm. 

 A -- that’s NAS’s updated accounting ledger that corresponds 

with the day of the sale.  

 Q Okay.  And my copy’s not super great, but it appears that on 

the bottom right of 301, in the grand total box, that’s the same number 

that appears as the opening bid on 303? 

 A It looks like it.  

 Q Okay.  And then, the winning bid was $30,000? 

 A Correct. 

 Q All right.  And, what -- does page 317 show us how those 

funds were distributed? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay.  Was any amount sent to the first deed of trust holder? 

 A No. 

 Q Okay.  And when setting the opening bid, was any 
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consideration given to setting it at an amount that would cover the first 

deed of trust? 

 A It would have been the amounts due to the HOA and NAS.  

 Q Just those parts, correct? 

 A Just those two. 

 Q Okay.  Thank you, Ms. Moses. 

 A You’re welcome. 

  THE COURT:  All right, Mr. Hong, of course, any questions for 

Ms. Moses? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HONG:   

 Q Thank you, Your Honor. 

  Good morning, Ms. Moses. 

 A Good morning.  

 Q Okay.  Let’s first turn to Exhibit 3.   

 A Okay. 

 Q That’s the Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q That’s what began the process and that was recorded on 

October 27, 2010, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  And this is for the Madeira HOA, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  Now, I want you to turn to Exhibit 11, Bates stamp 

number 215.   
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 A Okay. 

 Q So, if we look at this, we see in the -- so, let’s start from the 

left, the column on the left, amount quarterly assessment; do you see 

that? 

 A I do. 

 Q And then, that’s for January 2011 through July 31st, 2011, 

correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  Now, if we turn to the very right column, that’s the 

[indiscernible] Areas; that’s another HOA right? 

 A It could be.  

 Q Okay.  But -- 

 A I don’t know what it is.  

 Q But that first -- the column that we just talked about, that’s for 

Madeira, correct? 

 A Yes, I believe so.  

 Q Okay, if we look at the third column, again, for Madeira, that’s 

from January 2010 through 1 -- through 12 to -- basically the whole year 

of 2010; do you see that? 

 A Yes.  

 Q And then, do you see if you drop there, the quarterly 

assessment is 180? 

 A Yes. 

 Q So, if we times that by three, that comes out to 574, correct?  

Or whatever the math is. 
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  In order to determine what the -- what each month, the nine 

months would be, we would times the 180 by three, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  So, and I will represent to you, my math skills aren’t 

great, but it is 524.  

 A Okay. 

 Q I believe.  Okay. 

 A My math skills are not great either -- 

 Q Right. 

 A -- so -- 

 Q But, hang on, let me just -- just want to be absolutely correct 

on this one.  It’s 540.  

 A 540?  Okay. 

 Q Yeah.  And then, that makes sense, you agree with me, how 

we multiply the quarterly by three to come up with the nine months, 

correct? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay.  Now, if we turn to Exhibit 9 -- 

 A Okay. 

 Q -- Exhibit 9 and if we turn to Bates stamp number 131 -- 

 A Okay. 

 Q -- I think Counsel already asked you about the seller.  This is a 

February -- letter dated February 22nd, 2011; do you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q That’s from Miles Bauer to basically NAS asking for like a 
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ledger or -- correct? 

 A A payoff. 

 Q Payoff.  And then, if you turn to Bates stamp 134, that’s a 

ledger showing up to 4/11; do you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q And, it says the present rate, and do you see 162? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay.  And then, it shows a prior rate in the third column of 

180; do you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q But, it doesn’t have the dates though? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Right, but this was provided pursuant to that request in 2011, 

correct? 

 A I believe so. 

 Q Okay.  Perfect.  And now, if we keep turning to that same 

Exhibit 9 and Bates stamp number 141 -- 

 A Okay. 

 Q -- and you’ve seen these kind of receipt sheets before,  

correct -- 

 A Correct. 

 Q -- on top?  And, NAS at times would sign off on it, correct? 

 A I believe so.  

 Q Okay, this one obviously, there’s no sign-off on this? 

 A I don’t see a signature on the page, no.  
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 Q Right, so you have no idea if this check was actually delivered 

to you, to NAS? 

 A I’m -- there’s no way for me to tell if there’s no signature or 

name or something on there.  

 Q Right.  And then, let’s look at the -- if we go back two pages, 

Bates stamp number 139 -- 

 A Okay. 

 Q -- that check is for 486; do you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q And, do you agree that’s not 540, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  I don’t have anything further, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Any redirect, Mr. Garner? 

  MR. GARNER:  No, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  All right, Ms. Moses, thanks a lot for your time 

and your testimony, you’re excused.   

  THE WITNESS:  Sure.  

  THE COURT:  What’s the status on Mr. -- 

  MR. GARNER:  I’m told Mr. Jung’s here.  

  THE COURT:  -- Jung?  Okay, let’s go ahead and call him.  

  MR. GARNER:  Defense calls Rock Jung.  

[Colloquy between counsel and witness] 

[Colloquy between counsel] 

  THE MARSHAL:  I don’t see anybody outside.  

  MR. GARNER:  Oh, he’s not? 
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  THE MARSHAL:  I’m not sure.  

[Colloquy between counsel and the Marshal] 

[Pause in proceedings] 

  THE COURT:  All right, we can go off the record. 

[Proceedings paused at 9:54 a.m.] 

[Proceedings resumed at 9:55 a.m.] 

  MR. GARNER:  I found him.  

  THE COURT:  All right, you called Mr. Jung.  Mr. Jung -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  -- come on over to the witness box, if you could 

remain standing just for a moment please.   

  THE WITNESS:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  There you go.  

ROCK JUNG 

[Having been called as a witness and being first duly sworn, testified as 

follows:] 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  If you 

could, please state and spell your first and last name for the record.  

  THE WITNESS:  Rock, R-O-C-K.  Jung, J-U-N-G. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, Mr. Garner, go ahead.  

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GARNER:   

 Q Thank you, Judge.  

  Mr. Jung, good morning.  

 A Good morning. 
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 Q I know we’ve done this before, but let’s do it again for the 

record.  What -- tell the Judge what you do for a living. 

 A I am an attorney licensed to practice in the State of Nevada.  

 Q How long have you been a lawyer? 

 A Since 2008. 

 Q Okay.  And, where were you working in the years, let’s say 

2010 to 2013? 

 A That was with the law firm Miles Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters. 

 Q And, where was that located? 

 A Henderson, Nevada. 

 Q Okay.  And, during those years that you were with -- tell us 

about the years you were at Miles Bauer. 

 A I was there approximately October 2009 through March 2014.  

 Q Okay, and during your time at Miles Bauer did you do any 

work related to HOA foreclosure sales in Nevada? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Briefly summarize for the Judge what that work entailed.  

 A In a nutshell, it was to reach out to the HOA or the collection 

agent to let them know that we were representing the beneficiary or 

servicer of the first deed of trust lien, and that we wish to protect that 

lien, and tender any super-priority amount that might have existed.  But, 

we needed information and that amount.  

 Q Okay.  And, if you were given information, what’d you do next? 

 A If we were given information that allowed us to calculate the 

super-priority amount, we would go ahead and calculate that amount 
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and have a check issued in that amount and then hand delivered to the 

HOA’s collection agent.  

 Q Okay.  And approximately how many times during your years 

at Miles Bauer were you retained for that purpose? 

 A Me, personally, my best estimate is five to six thousand 

separate times. 

 Q Okay.  Now, the exhibit binder in front of you, I’d like you to 

turn to Exhibit 9.  And specifically, within Exhibit 9, look at what we’ve 

labeled on the bottom right, 131 and 132.  

 A Okay. 

 Q And you’re familiar with this document? 

 A Yes I am.  

 Q What is it? 

 A Bates stamped, BANA 131 and 132, it appears to be a copy of 

a letter that I wrote to Nevada Association Services, which was the 

HOA’s designated collection agent or HOA trustee, just introducing 

myself and who we represented -- who my firm represented and that we 

sought to protect our client’s first deed of trust lien and tender any super-

priority amount that might exist.  But, we needed more information as to 

what that amount was.  

 Q Okay.  And was there a standard way that you would send this 

first letter? 

 A Yes.  

 Q How was that? 

 A We would send it via First-Class Mail.  But, in addition, 
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depending on the HOA trustee or collection agent, we might have also 

faxed it to them or emailed them a copy of this first letter pursuant to 

their instructions.  

 Q Okay.  And do you recall during your time at Miles Bauer 

whether or not you ever had trouble getting mail to NAS, for example, 

was it returned undeliverable? 

 A To NAS, no.  I don’t recall ever having any trouble sending our 

first letter to NAS -- 

 Q Okay. 

 A -- or the -- or NAS receiving our first letter. 

 Q Okay.  Was NAS a collection agent with whom you dealt often 

during your time at Miles Bauer? 

 A Yes they were.  If I had to say -- if I had to estimate, I believe 

they were the HOA trustee or collection agent I dealt with the most.  

 Q Okay.  And through your dealings with them, did you become 

familiar with NAS’s policies and practices for handling your requests? 

 A Yes I did. 

 Q Okay.  And, if you turn to the same Exhibit 9, page 134 and 

135, can you tell us what that is? 

 A Yes.  134 is a copy of a NAS payoff statement, or account 

ledger, on a property regarding HOA assessments and any other fees 

associated with that homeowner’s HOA account.  

 Q Okay.  And on pages 134 and 135, do you see anywhere 

listed a super-priority number? 

 A I do not. 
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 Q Okay.  Do you ever recall a time when NAS provided to you a 

specific super-priority number? 

 A They might have towards the end of my employment with 

Miles Bauer, so sometime in 2014 is my best estimate, but I definitely 

remember in the year 2011, they did not.  

 Q Okay.  And if you look on page 134, there’s a handful of 

columns.  The first one says amount and present rate and then under 

that you see $162 for quarterly assessments; do you see that column? 

 A I do.   

 Q And then all the other columns next to it are called prior rates 

and they have different numbers in them; do you see that? 

 A I do. 

 Q All right, can you tell from looking at this what period of time 

any of these rates applied to the property? 

 A Just looking at those columns, I cannot. 

 Q Okay.  So, what did you do with this ledger at the time for your 

client? 

 A We went ahead -- we would have gone ahead and, per our 

custom and practice, since we did have assessment information as to 

the amount, we would have calculated a nine-month super-priority 

amount based on the amount given in this payoff statement or ledger. 

 Q Okay.  And, if you look at 137, 138, and 139, tell us what that 

is. 

 A 137, 138, and 139 was the standard correspondence and 

copy of a check that Miles Bauer would have sent to a collection agent 
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or HOA trustee regarding a super-priority tender.  

 Q Okay.  And was there a standard practice and procedure for 

how those things would be delivered? 

 A Yes. 

 Q What was that? 

 A That was delivery via a legal runner.  So, this super-priority 

cover letter and check would have been hand delivered to Nevada 

Association Services pursuant to Miles Bauer’s custom and practice.  

 Q Okay.  And tell us what we see on page 141. 

 A Bates stamp 141, this is a copy of a what I call just the run -- 

copy -- receipt of copy from that -- the HOA trustee or collection agent 

would sign along with a copy of the Legal Wings run slip -- 

 Q Okay. 

 A -- for checks that were hand delivered. 

 Q All right.  Legal Wings was a -- the runner service you used 

most often? 

 A Correct. 

 Q All right.  Now, the top portion, this what -- I think we call the 

receipt of copy -- 

 A Yes. 

 Q -- lists a handful of checks and properties, including the one at 

Pont National; do you see that? 

 A I do.  

 Q And it has a signature block for NAS; do you see that? 

 A I do, yes. 
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 Q Was a receipt of copy like this always sent with letters and 

checks? 

 A Not always while I was employed from, once again, 

approximately October 2009 through March 2014.  My recollection was 

originally, let’s say the first year or so, we did not have this practice of 

sending a receipt of copy with our legal runner at the time.  But, as the 

procedures protecting the client’s first deed of trust lien and tendering 

the super-priority amount -- as it became more fleshed out by our firm, 

we then added this practice of having the legal runner bring a receipt of 

copy pertaining to the check or checks delivered for each property that 

day.  So, I cannot say we always had this policy in place during my 

career or employment with Miles Bauer, but certainly, at some point we 

did.  

 Q Okay.  And, do you recall during your years at Miles Bauer, or 

since, testifying in depositions and trial, ever seeing NAS sign one of 

these? 

 A 99 percent of the time, they did not sign it because they 

claimed it wasn’t for the full amount.  So, NAS, the powers that be, 

instructed their receptionist or front desk person to turn away our legal 

runner at the door.  I say 99 percent because there were very few 

instances where we did pay the full amount, such as our client was -- 

had a junior or second deed of trust which they wished to protect.  So, 

we would pay the full amount.  

 Q Okay.  And then, the last page of this exhibit labeled 143, can 

you tell us what that is? 
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 A Yes, 143 is a copy of the ProLaw screenshot and ProLaw was 

the case management system that I used at Miles Bauer.  

 Q Okay.  And, these entries here have dates and then some 

words next to each of the dates, who were the people, generally, would 

be making entries like this at Miles Bauer? 

 A Generally, it’d be the handling attorney or the handling 

attorney’s paralegal/legal assistant at the direction of the handling 

attorney.  There could also be administrative entries made by admin of 

Miles Bauer. 

 Q Okay.  And then, if you look at -- there’s a couple entries on 

February 22nd, 2011; do you see those entries? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Tell us what those mean.  

 A So, February 22nd, 2011, the bottom entry of the two, it states 

EMF, that stands for email from, RKJ, those are my initials, regarding 

initial letters to borrower and HOA.  That’s just documenting that I sent 

the initial letters or what I had testified earlier as the first letter to both the 

borrower, or the homeowner, and the HOA, or more specifically the 

HOA’s collection agent. 

  And then the second entry dated the same date that says 2/22 

EMT, that’s email to, client with initial letters attached, comma FU, that’s 

just stating that I would have emailed our client copies of the initial letter 

or the first letters that were sent to the borrower and the HOA or HOA’s 

collection agent.  And then, FU just stands for follow-up.  And then, the 

rest is cut off.  
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 Q Okay.  And, there’s an entry -- well, there’s two entries on April 

1st, 2011.  I’m looking at the second one that says 4/1 check sent to 

HOA and then some more verbiage there; what does that mean? 

 A 4/1, that’s April 1st, checks sent to HOA, that means on April 

1st we had the super-priority check sent, meaning a legal runner hand 

delivered it to the HOA, or more specifically the HOA’s collection agent, 

in this case, Nevada Association Services.  And then, comma FU, 

stands for follow-up, April 13th, see if check was and then it’s cut off.  

But, I know from just entering literally thousands of these entries, it 

would have said see if check was accepted or rejected. 

 Q Okay.  Would that entry exist if you -- your office had not sent 

the check to NAS? 

 A No, it would not. 

 Q Okay.  And then, we see an entry on 4/13/2011; what does 

that mean, that entry there? 

 A It states 4/13, which stands for April 13th, check returned, 

meaning the check was returned.  But, it doesn’t mean that it literally 

was returned on that date.  It’s just that when we delivered the check, 

when we first started off this process in late 2009, we gave ourselves a 

two-week cushion to get a reaction or a response from the HOA’s 

collection agent because at the very beginning, we were not getting an 

immediate response.  It -- so, we gave ourself [sic] a two-week cushion 

to see if we had since then received a response within that two-week 

cushion.  But, most likely by 2011, we would have gotten the response 

immediately, meaning it would have been rejected and returned to our 
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runner to bring back to us that same day or the following business day.  

  So, check returned, and then comma FU, which once again 

stands for follow-up, 11/20, November 20th, monitor ex parte.  And so, it 

looks like we were just monitoring the file to see if there was any sales 

activities.  

 Q Okay.  And based on your years dealing with NAS, how was -- 

in 2011, how was NAS treating the deliveries of your letters and checks 

during that timeframe? 

 A During that timeframe, NAS would treat it as just a -- they 

would treat it as not a payment in satisfaction of the super-priority 

amount because it did not include fees and costs, it’d only include 

assessments and that was it.  So, they would reject it.  

 Q Okay.  And, do you recall a time -- well, let’s talk about this 

check.  When they returned this check, did NAS suggest to you or 

anyone at Miles Bauer a different number to pay as the super-priority? 

 A They did not.  

 Q Do you recall them ever doing that? 

 A No. 

 Q Okay.  Mr. Jung, thank you for your time.  

 A Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Mr. Hong, any questions for Mr. Jung? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HONG:   

 Q Yes, thank you, Your Honor. 

  Hi Mr. Jung, how are you? 
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 A Good.  Good morning, I’m well, thank you. 

 Q Good.  I’m going to kind of go backwards just to be easier 

from the last questions.  

 A Okay. 

 Q So, let’s turn to Exhibit 9, Bates stamp number 143.   

 A Okay. 

 Q That’s the ProLaw case management for Miles Bauer? 

 A That’s correct. 

 Q And, as you -- I mean, how many -- roughly, how many do you 

think, while you were there, that you handled these trying to pay off 

super-priorities?  A thousand, two thousand? 

 A Right, my best estimate was five to six thousand.  

 Q Wow, that you were handling? 

 A Correct, during the entire -- during the course of my entire 

four-and-a-half-year employment there.  

 Q Okay.  So, you don’t have any independent knowledge of this 

particular property, or frankly any property, other than looking at 

documents, correct?  Fair enough? 

 A Not of -- I don’t -- fair enough as to any individual recollection 

of this property.  I mean, there were some instances where the names 

sounded familiar to me or for some reason the name stood out, which I 

would remember independently -- 

 Q Sure. 

 A -- but this particular property, that’s correct. 

 Q Yeah.  So, if we look at the ProLaw, you don’t know if you 
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inputted any of this information or your paralegal or someone else at the 

office, correct? 

 A I’m very confident that where it says -- where it has my initials, 

I would have inputted them.  

 Q Okay.  But, the ones that don’t have your initials, you don’t 

know who inputted those? 

 A That’s correct.  It could have been me or it could have been 

my paralegal at my direction. 

 Q Okay.  And then, if we turn back -- if we turn to -- let’s go to 

Bates stamp 137.   

 A Okay. 

 Q And then the next page, that’s the standard cover letter that 

you sent along with the check, correct? 

 A Correct.  It did -- the cover letters or standard letters did 

change during the course of my employment at Miles Bauer -- 

 Q Okay. 

 A -- but at this time, in 2011, this was the standard cover letter I 

believe. 

 Q And that was -- and you see the check there for 486, correct? 

 A Yes, correct. 

 Q Okay.  Now, for 486, if we go back to 00134, that’s based right 

there, that column to the left, the 162 quarterly and you times it by three, 

right? 

 A Correct. 

 Q And -- because -- for the nine months? 
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 A Yes, the equivalent of nine months would have been the 

quarterly assessment multiplied by three. 

 Q Right, nine months, okay.  And then, now if you turn forward to 

Bates stamp number 141 -- 

 A Okay. 

 Q -- that’s the receipt that obviously was not signed by anyone at 

NAS, and then that’s the Legal Wings, correct? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay.  So, in the course of your four years, if you did about 

five to six thousand of these, do you remember was it Legal Wings that 

would always do the delivery of the letters and checks? 

 A Correct, but just to be clear, when I testified I handled 

approximately five to six thousand during the course of four and a half 

years -- 

 Q Mm-hmm. 

 A -- that doesn’t translate to five or six thousand checks being 

delivered because there were a lot of times where we didn’t have the -- 

 Q Right. 

 A -- information -- 

 Q Right. 

 A -- to calculate in the -- 

 Q Right. 

 A -- first place.  

 Q But, any -- how many, roughly, do you think were when 

checks were delivered -- attempted to be delivered, roughly, that you 
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handled? 

 A My best estimate, it’d probably be around half the number of 

files I handled.  

 Q So, like 2,000 you think? 

 A Sure, 2,000 to -- 

 Q Okay. 

 A -- 2,000 to 2,500 -- 

 Q Okay. 

 A -- is my best estimate.  

 Q So, for those that you handled, the best estimate 2,000, 2,500, 

Legal Wings would be the company that was trying to deliver it, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q And you have no affiliation with Legal Wings, correct? 

 A That’s correct. 

 Q Okay.  And you don’t know, looking at this Legal Wings 

receipt, who wrote this little note in the bottom, correct? 

 A That’s correct.  I don’t know the individual’s name, but -- 

 Q Right. 

 A -- it would have been someone employed by Legal Wings.  

 Q Right.  So, you don’t have any independent knowledge or 

even looking at this if this check and letter was actually taken to Legal 

Wings -- I mean, to Nevada Association, correct? 

 A I know pursuant to our custom and practice that it would have 

been delivered by Legal Wings, that they did pick it up from our checks, 

and they did deliver it per their job duties that they were paid for. 
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 Q Okay.  And then, let’s turn to your first letter, 131, the second 

page, and that’ll correspond with what you just testified to and what we 

all know.  Your understanding of the super-priority of an HOA lien is nine 

months preceding the enforcement, correct? 

 A Right, absent any nuisance abatement or maintenance -- 

 Q Right, right. 

 A -- charges. 

 Q So, just nine months and then nine months preceding the 

Notice of Delinquency? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  And, in this case, if you turn to tab three, you will see 

the Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien was recorded on 10/27/2010; 

do you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q So, you agree with me, it’d be nine months preceding that? 

 A It’d be nine months preceding that, that’s correct, or even the 

Notice of Default -- 

 Q Right. 

 A -- which is when my client would have been first made aware 

of it.  

 Q Right, and that’s Exhibit 4.  And the Notice of Default was 

recorded on 12/21/2010, so even -- it would be nine months before that, 

right? 

 A Correct. 

 Q So, regardless, we’re in the year of 2010, correct? 

0849



 

30 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  So, now if you turn to Exhibit 9 again, Bates stamp 

number 134 -- well actually, let’s go back to 131.  That’s that first letter 

dated February 22nd, 2011, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q And then, in response to that, you received the ledger here, 

Bates stamp 134, that says dates of delinquency 1/10 through 4/11; do 

you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q And then, immediately to the right, that’s the column that 162 

quarterly and then basically you multiplied that by three to come up with 

486, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q And then, you see the prior rates, prior rates, prior rates and 

there was no communication between you or NAS asking for what those 

may be, correct? 

 A Other than what was in our first letter -- 

 Q Right. 

 A -- that’s correct. 

 Q Okay.  I don’t have anything further, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

  MR. GARNER:  Nothing further, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  All right, I do have a few follow-up questions, 

Mr. Jung.  I’d like for you, if you could please, to turn to Exhibit 9, page 

134.  

  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 
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  THE COURT:  All right.  It’s a conclusion, or otherwise 

apparent to me, that you used this document to arrive at the amount of 

the check that was sent that you’ve testified would represent the super-

priority tender amount.  Is that accurate? 

  THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Who did that?  Was that you or someone else? 

  THE WITNESS:  That would have been myself. 

  THE COURT:  All right so, you have, again, at the relevant 

time, page -- what we have here as page 134, and you’re working on 

this case along with the other thousands, and you come up with this idea 

that 486 would represent the super-priority amount; is that it? 

  THE WITNESS:  That’s correct, yes. 

  THE COURT:  And, I see that you did that by multiplying, of 

course, the 162 that you see in the first column by three? 

  THE WITNESS:  Correct. 

  THE COURT:  Quarterly by three? 

  THE WITNESS:  That is -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  THE WITNESS:  -- correct. 

  THE COURT:  So, you probably don’t recall, because you’ve 

indicated that you’re relying upon records only, what you did at the time, 

but maybe this’ll either refresh your memory or you can help me, why 

didn’t you use one of the other numbers?  For example, the 210, the 

180, 234, these other numbers that seem to be on that same line with 

the 162. 
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  THE WITNESS:  My best recollection, Your Honor, is that 

those other prior rates there were no corresponding dates, meaning 

months and years that corresponded with those prior rates.  However, 

the present rate, it noted the dates of delinquency was January 10th 

through April 11th, so the understanding was that the 162 was the 

current rate or present rate, but it also -- was also back since 2010.  So, 

I don’t know where those prior rates came from or how far back they 

went, if they were back ten years ago, or two years ago, so I just went 

with the 162.  

  However, having said that, Your Honor, when we -- when I 

had that check delivered, the 162 multiplied by three to get the nine 

months’ worth, I never had any correspondence back from Nevada 

Association Services saying well, you should have used the $210 

quarterly rate to calculate your nine month or any indication what they 

thought was the correct super-priority amount.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, I understand from the testimony that on 

behalf of the bank, essentially, that you didn’t get anything back from the 

agent of the HOA saying well, you know, you sent us this 486, but you 

got it wrong, even though it’s apparent they took the position you got it 

wrong from -- clearly from the little note on page 141, where they say 

won’t accept per Carly or Carrie or somebody like that.  

  But anyway, go -- let’s go -- let’s look at 134 again, please. 

  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Could it be, as you look at these documents 

now, that the 210, 180, or 234, that any of those could have been 
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monthly assessments relevant to the super-priority lien? 

  THE WITNESS:  It is possible, Your Honor, I mean, anything 

is possible in the sense that it could have been -- the 210 could have 

been the rate as of December 2009 and then starting January 2010 it 

changed to 162.  So, if you went nine months before the Notice of 

Delinquent Assessment Lien, there might have been some overlap of a 

month or two with the prior assessment amount.  

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  THE WITNESS:  But, based on the information we had, we 

made the good faith estimate that 162 was the correct number to use to 

calculate the super-priority amount.  And it -- there’s clearly no charges 

for nuisance abatement or maintenance so we’re just focused on 

assessment amount.   

  And having spoken to -- I -- part of the custom and practice, 

Your Honor, is we did reach out also to the HOA’s collection agent and 

some cases they reached out to me, and at the -- at that time, it was Mr. 

David Stone, I remember specifically, it was David Stone who was the 

owner of Nevada Association Services at the time I was working at Miles 

Bauer.  And that he had indicated to me, they weren’t going to accept 

just nine months of assessments and I had asked them why.  And he 

says, well, because the super-priority amount, in his belief, also included 

their fees and costs.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, I understand that.  

  THE WITNESS:  So -- 

  THE COURT:  I do understand that.  All right so, as a Court, 
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I’m concluding something about this and I want to see if you’d agree with 

the conclusion while you’re here as a witness, okay? 

  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  I’m concluding that when you had this 

document, and you’re trying to fashion, of course, the specific dollar 

amount to represent the super-priority, you used the 162 because it’s 

there in the present rate.  We covered that and I’m sure you agree with 

that.  

  THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  But, I will also conclude that it’s possible that 

given that, for reasons unbeknownst to me still, but probably consistent 

with the way HOAs conduct business, the quarterly HOA assessment 

out at Madeira Canyon -- is that what this is -- 

  MR. HONG:  Yes.  

  MR. GARNER:  Yes.  

  THE COURT:  -- changed over time.  I mean, if you lived over 

there, or if you were Melissa Lieberman or someone over there, you’d 

[sic] at times would have paid 234, at times paid 180, at times paid 210, 

and then 162, and -- I mean, God only knows what, on from there.  But 

during this relevant time, it seems like there’s been a change in the 

monthly assessment -- or sorry -- well, maybe monthly, but certainly 

quarterly assessments changed over time, right? 

  THE WITNESS:  That’s correct, Your Honor.  And, I just -- just 

to point out too that this is very unusual out of the thousands of payoff 

statements that I’ve seen and that the assessments actually appear to 
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have decreased.  The ones I’ve seen where there were different 

numbers, it’s always -- have increased in amount.  

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  They might have decreased and then 

increased and then decreased, even, because the numbers are sort of 

that way.  Do you agree with that?  I mean -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor.  And, assuming that the 

prior rates it’s going from most recent to oldest, left to right, but it’s hard 

to say, because once again, you just don’t see any corresponding dates 

with -- associated with each of the other columns for prior rates.  

  THE COURT:  And, that’s the conclusion I think I have to 

draw, and tell me if you disagree with that.  But, this document is a little 

vague in that it does not talk -- there’s no way to tell from this document 

over the dates of delinquency, say from January ’10 through April of ’11, 

so that’s a year and four months, there’s no way to tell what the monthly 

assessments were during that timeframe, or before that even.  We don’t 

know specifically what the assessments were during that time.   

  THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor -- 

  THE COURT:  Right? 

  THE WITNESS:  -- I agree.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So, it could be, it seems to me, that 

when you sent the 486, and you know hindsight 20/20 is always a little 

better than when you’re doing anything, right -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  -- but you could have got it wrong.  I mean, as 

far as the actual super-priority monthly assessment amount, and that 
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alone, it could -- the 486 could have been incorrect.  It could have been 

not enough because the 210 is higher, the 180 is higher, and the 234 is 

higher.  So, if any of those numbers are actually part of the nine months, 

that being again the 210, 180, or 234, then you’d be a few dollars off on 

the 486; you agree with that? 

  THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Okay, any follow-up based 

upon my questions now? 

FOLLOW-UP BY THE DEFENSE 

BY MR. GARNER:   

 Q Yeah, just as to the policy, practices, and procedure, that you 

did this thousands of times.  If NAS had said, use the 210 or the 234 or 

180 number instead, what would Miles Bauer have done? 

 A Well, Miles Bauer would have, pursuant to our custom and 

practice, would have been happy to use that rate.  I mean, and at -- our 

client wants to protect the first deed of trust based on their interpretation 

of the super-priority amount, which absent nuisance abatement or 

maintenance would have been nine months, and if we were to -- we 

would have been informed by NAS clarifying their vague statement what 

exactly were the nine months in question, we would have happy -- 

happily have calculated and paid the extra 25 bucks, 30 bucks, whatever 

the case might be.  

 Q Mm-hmm.  And, were there instances where Miles Bauer 

would pay nine months plus some costs and fees? 

 A There were instances during my employment at Miles Bauer 
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where we did -- temporarily did include fees and -- reasonable fees and 

costs along with the nine months of assessments. 

 Q And, what did NAS do with those checks? 

 A They also, true with their policy, they would reject it, unless it 

was for the full amount listed in their payoff statement.  

 Q Thank you, Mr. Jung. 

 A Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  You know, I’m not trying to overdo this, but as 

a Court I’d -- I do try to get stuff right.  It’s important to people so I put my 

effort in to try to get it right.  And, so I’m not trying to be too Perry Mason 

on the thing, but let’s take another look at this 134.  

  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Right underneath quarterly assessment 

amount, do you see that -- of course, we’ve been talking about that line 

that’s entitled quarterly assessment amounts as 162, 210, 180, 234.  It 

even says zero on the end, but you see that line.   

  But, right underneath that one, there’s a line that says number 

of months delinquent and under 162 it says two, under 210 it says two, 

under 180 it says four, and under 234 it says four.  You think those 

numbers are evidence of the fact that, as part of the super-priority lien, 

the 210, and 180, and 234 have to be included somehow, given those 

numbers of months delinquent amounts, two, two, four, and four?   

  You see what I’m saying?  It -- that’s what it looks like to me.  

It looks like the -- that there’s a combination of various past assessments 

that could be evident from this line item number of months delinquent.  I 
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don’t -- again, I don’t know if I have that right, but it looks like it’s 

evidence of that to me, but you tell me.  Would you think that’s evidence 

of that? 

  THE WITNESS:  I do see that, Your Honor, and I agree that it 

appears to say that there’s two months delinquent under the present 

rate, two months delinquent under the prior rate of 210, and so forth.  

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  THE WITNESS:  But, looking at that, I’m still -- and I’m sure 

that was -- this was also the case when I first reviewed it several years 

ago, that’s the -- I still am not clear as to the corresponding dates of 

those two months of delinquency under the prior rate or the four months 

of alleged delinquency under the prior rate of 180, and also, four months 

delinquency under the prior rate of 234.  I don’t know.  At that point, if 

you’re getting beyond the nine months prior to the recording of the lien, 

I’m not -- I’m -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  THE WITNESS:  -- that’s just not clear to me.  

  THE COURT:  Do you have an understanding, based upon 

looking at this record -- and I know it takes the record to refresh memory 

or otherwise, you know, bring it back to your attention.  What’s the date 

of this Exhibit 134?  I mean, when do you -- what’s the date that it’s 

generated?  Is it -- do you think you know that? 

  THE WITNESS:  Well, Your Honor -- 

  THE COURT:  It says printed 3/12/2011 on the bottom. 

  THE WITNESS:  Right, and that -- to me, that would be 
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consistent with the date that was on the Miles Bauer first letter, which 

was Bates stamped BANA 131, 132 -- 

  THE COURT:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE WITNESS:  -- and the date of that first letter that I wrote 

and sent to NAS was dated February 22nd, 2011.  So, the printed March 

12th, 2011 would track with that chronology.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  If this is printed out on or about March 

of 2011, let’s say, and it says that there’s two months delinquent at 162, 

two months delinquent at 210, four at 180, and four at 234 -- let’s see, so 

two, four, and then another four is eight.  I mean, I’m not trying to be 

critical of you -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  -- but I’m just trying to figure out what might 

have happened here, okay? 

  THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  Why wouldn’t you just, you know -- trying to 

come to the super-priority amount, why not say okay, two at 162, 

whatever two times 162 is, and two at 210 -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  -- add that up, take four at 180 and throw that 

in, because now we’re at two, four, eight months -- 

  MR. GARNER:  These are quarterly charges. 

  THE WITNESS:  Well, Your Honor, you’re right, those are 

quarterly too, so -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So, let me try that again then.  
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  THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  So, quarterly you take -- I don’t know how you 

do the math -- 

  THE WITNESS:  So -- 

  THE COURT:  -- I -- it’s too much for me to figure out  

quarterly -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  -- and then that little two, two, four, eight -- two, 

two, four, four numbers.  I guess what I’m really trying to ask you is why 

wouldn’t you note the months of delinquency and try to figure out an 

amount other than the 486, because it could be that it was a higher 

number, just by dollars, a few dollars -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Sure.  

  THE COURT:  -- but it could have been? 

  THE WITNESS:  Right, I see what you’re saying, Your Honor.  

Just to answer your question, my best recollection would have been the 

162, which was the quarterly amount, designated as the present rate  

for -- and it says number of months delinquent -- 

  THE COURT:  Two.  

  THE WITNESS:  -- which is two, which is really in reality six 

months because they’re assessed quarterly.  So, two quarterly months 

would be six months.  

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  THE WITNESS:  So, the 162 would apply to six out of the nine 

months.  
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  THE COURT:  Okay, so then you’d take the 162 times two -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  -- and then 210 times one, and that would give 

you the nine months amount using that formula; would -- do you agree? 

  THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor.  So, it looks like -- 

  THE COURT:  So, in other words -- 

  THE WITNESS:  -- it’d be an extra $48. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  So it’d be -- let me just do that math real 

quick.  

  THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  Looking at this thing, if we use that formula, so 

162 -- 

  MR. HONG:  Or 58. 

  THE COURT:  -- where it has a two underneath the 162 -- 

  THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  -- that two -- those are quarterly.  So, that’d be 

six months, right? 

  THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  We take 162 and 162, that gives you six 

months? 

  THE WITNESS:  Correct. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, then you take 210, just one 210 because 

that’s another three months, bringing it to nine months, so let’s add that 

up.   

  That’d be 534.  534 -- it could be that 534, it seems to me, 
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would be the better number than 486 to actually capture the nine 

months; do you think that’s a fair conclusion? 

  THE WITNESS:  That is -- that seems fair, Your Honor.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, any other questions based 

upon mine now? 

  MR. GARNER:  Nothing. 

  MR. HONG:  I do, Your Honor.  I do, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead.  

FOLLOW-UP BY THE PLAINTIFF 

BY MR. HONG:   

 Q Based on the Judge’s questions, Mr. Jung, which is the -- on -- 

based on 134, it’s printed on 3/12/2011; do you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q And then, if you turn to Exhibit 11, Bates stamp number 205, 

please.  

 A Okay. 

 Q And, this corresponds to that March 12th, 2011, do you see 

that from Yolanda [indiscernible], and this is from NAS to Alexander 

Baum? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay, and Alexander Baum was with Miles Bauer, correct? 

 A Correct.  

 Q Okay.  So, this is the email that is sending the Bates stamp 

number 134 to Miles Bauer pursuant to your first letter, correct?  As best 

as you can see in terms of the corresponding dates.  
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 A Yes.  

 Q Right.  And as well as the email saying, hey, attached hereto 

is the payoff, right? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  So, you agree with me that there was email 

correspondence from NAS to Miles Bauer, right? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay, and you agree with me that in receiving 134 -- Bates 

stamp number 134, if there was some confusion or not knowing exactly, 

someone at Miles Bauer, including Alexander Baum, could have emailed 

NAS, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Right, could have just done a reply saying, hey, we got this, 

the dates are clearly from January of 2010 through April of 2011, can 

you kind of clarify, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  Now -- and you handled -- and like you said, you 

handled about two to -- 2,000 to 2,500 of these where you’re trying to 

payoff, right, from your four years you were there? 

 A Right, that’s my best estimate -- 

 Q Right.  

 A -- for the number of checks.  

 Q Fair enough.  So, let’s just cut to the chase and let’s just get to 

it then.  Let’s go to Exhibit 11, Bates stamp number 215.  And, that’s -- 

 A I’m sorry, you said 215, 2-1-5? 
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 Q 2-1-5, correct.  So, why don’t you like put a finger or 

something on 134 and then go to 215 and then that’ll pretty much mirror 

those documents.  Are you at 215? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Exhibit 11? 

 A I am. 

 Q Okay.  So, if you look at 215, you see that first column on the 

left, that’s the quarterly assessments, you see that, and that’s from dates 

January of 2011 through July of 2011, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q And that’s 162; you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay, and if you drop two more -- next column, it’s called the 

Videiras, which apparently is another HOA, but do you see that? 

 A Yes.  

 Q And then, if you look at the column immediately to the right of 

that, again, corresponding with that first column on the left, quarterly 

assessments from January 2010 through December of 2010 is 180; do 

you see that? 

 A Yes. 

 Q Okay, so now per your previous testimony we talked about 

nine months of assessments -- super-priority being nine months of 

assessments, that would be basically 180 times three, since it’s 

quarterly, correct? 

 A Correct.  
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 Q So -- which would be $540, correct?  I mean, my math isn’t 

great, but I mean, that’s -- I’ve already pre-calculated it, that’s why I can 

say that.  

 A Yes.  

 Q Okay.  

  THE COURT:  Well, one thing we can all do is multiply 180 

times three.  We can probably figure out a way -- 

  MR. HONG:  I couldn’t, I needed a calculator, honestly, Your 

Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

BY MR. HONG:   

 Q So -- and again -- it’s -- I’m not -- 

  THE COURT:  540. 

BY MR. HONG:   

 Q -- blaming you or anything, there’s no fault here, it’s just -- 

we’re just getting to the facts of this and we agree that 486 is obviously 

not 540, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  No further questions, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

  MR. GARNER:  Just a couple follow-up? 

  THE COURT:  Sure, go ahead.  

FURTHER FOLLOW-UP BY THE DEFENSE 

BY MR. GARNER:   

 Q Have you seen page 215 before today? 

 A I have not.  I mean, if I have, I certainly don’t recall, but I do 
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not -- 

 Q Okay.  

 A -- believe I have.  

 Q And it’s different from what NAS sent you, which we were 

looking at in Exhibit 9 at 134, correct? 

 A That is correct.  

 Q All right.  Did you control which version of the NAS ledger NAS 

sent to you? 

 A I did not.  

 Q Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Jung. 

 A Thank you. 

  MR. HONG:  Follow-up, Your Honor? 

  THE COURT:  Sure, go ahead.  

FURTHER FOLLOW-UP BY THE PLAINTIFF 

BY MR. HONG:   

 Q Again -- but my previous question, again, the communication 

channels were there obviously, right, from March 12th, 2011 when NAS 

emailed the individual at Miles Bauer saying attached is the March 12th, 

2000 [sic] print-out of the ledger, right?  So, again -- and you testified 

when I asked you, hey, someone from Miles Bauer, whether it’s you or 

your paralegal or secretary, could have emailed back NAS saying, hey, 

can you give us something a little bit more specific and detailed because 

there’s different numbers here, correct? 

 A Correct. 

 Q Okay.  Nothing further, Your Honor. 
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  MR. GARNER:  And, Mr. Jung, communication goes both 

ways, doesn’t it? 

  THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

  MR. GARNER:  All right.  Thank you. 

  MR. HONG:  Nothing further, Your Honor. 

  MR. GARNER:  Nothing further.  

  THE COURT:  And with that, we thank you for your 

communication.  

  THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

  THE COURT:  You’re excused.  

  THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  All right, any other witness or evidence from 

the defense? 

  MR. GARNER:  No, Your Honor, defense rests. 

  THE COURT:  Any rebuttal? 

  MR. HONG:  No, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, time for closing argument, then? 

  MR. HONG:  Sure, Your Honor.  

  MR. GARNER:  Yes.  

  THE COURT:  All right, Mr. Hong? 

  MR. HONG:  Thanks Rock. 

  MR. GARNER:  Thanks Rock.  

  THE COURT:  Let me ask you, if you both have, say a half 

hour, let’s take a comfort break.  

  MR. GARNER:  Sounds great.  
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  THE COURT:  If you have just a few minutes -- so, you do?  

Okay, let’s take a comfort break.  Come back in -- 

  MR. GARNER:  Sounds good.  

  THE COURT:  -- let’s come back in like, you know, 12 

minutes, something like that.  

  MR. GARNER:  Sounds good.  

  THE COURT:  12 to 15 minutes, something like that.  

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

[Recess began at 10:39 a.m.] 

[Recess concluded at 10:58 a.m.] 

  MR. HONG:  Oh yes, Your Honor, thank you. 

  THE COURT:  And now, wait, is there a counterclaim still, or 

no? 

  MR. HONG:  Well, there’s a cross-claim.  

  THE COURT:  Yeah, that’s right.  

  MR. HONG:  But, that’s addressed -- 

  THE COURT:  It’s --  

  MR. HONG:  -- in the -- 

  THE COURT:  So, sorry for the interruption, but something 

else just popped in my head, and that is, you get -- normally, on a 

complaint you get the closing argument and then you get a final rebuttal 

argument.  

  MR. HONG:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  But, when there’s a cross-claim then they 
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essentially get two, as well.  They get to support their cross-claim or 

counterclaim, if the bank has a claim, they get to give a final argument 

regarding that claim -- counterclaim, cross-claim, if they have one that’s 

relevant to the case.  In other words, they have a burden to prove their 

counterclaim or cross-claim, right? 

  MR. GARNER:  Technically all we have left are cross-claims.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, do you think -- let’s talk about it then.  

  MR. HONG:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  Do you think you get a final rebuttal argument 

regarding any of your claims? 

  MR. GARNER:  I would think, since there’s only cross-claims, 

there’s no -- there’s not really a Plaintiff or Defendant here anymore, it’s 

just cross-claims based on the procedural history.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  So, I’d say, we either both get one or both get 

two. 

  THE COURT:  Do you agree with that? 

  MR. HONG:  Yeah, that’s fine, we’ll just both get one, Your 

Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Both get one? 

  MR. GARNER:  That’s fine.  

  MR. HONG:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, go ahead then.  

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

CLOSING ARGUMENT BY THE PLAINTIFF 
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BY MR. HONG:   

  Your Honor -- and thank you for the time, and the NV Eagles 

motion for judgment as a matter of law, pursuant to NRCP Rule 50, 

that’s already been briefed and Your Honor can look at that.  I will make 

a couple of comments on that, Your Honor.   

  Just to remind Your Honor, this case deals with the cross-

claim and an affirmative defense from the bank on tender, okay?  And, 

Your Honor, on an identical, same HOA case, literally two weeks ago, on 

December 31st, 2019, issued a ruling addressing the statute of 

limitations on an affirmative defense.  And in that case, Your Honor held, 

look, I’m going to -- on tender, I’m going to go with five years, we argued 

three years, but Your Honor said five years.  

  THE COURT:  You know what case that was by any chance? 

  MR. HONG:  Yes, Your Honor, and it’s in the briefing.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. HONG:  It’s in -- it’s TWT versus Nationstar, and I can 

give a case number.  And Your Honor issued a minute order, a very 

lengthy minute order, asking the bank’s attorney to prepare the summary 

judgment in its favor, the reason being is, Your Honor felt there was a 

43-month stay in the case.  And therefore, by applying the stay of 43 

months, the five years was tolled.  So, in this case, there was no stay 

whatsoever, and I’m kind of mimicking real briefly what the motion 

stands -- what the motion is.  

  THE COURT:  Sure.  

BY MR. HONG:   
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  And so, pursuant to the HOA sale back in 2013, even by 

applying the five years, there’s no possible way the statute of limitations 

could be defeated by the bank here on tender; they just can’t.  The first 

and only time ever it was raised was July of 2019 via the bank’s cross-

claim.  Okay, that was a cross-claim alleging tender, so that’s out.  And 

then, the affirmative defense, first time ever alleged, was in July 30 of 

2019 at -- in -- as an answer to my client’s cross-claim against the bank.  

So, five years -- and it’s all briefed and Your Honor can look at it, and we 

even attached the minute order on that.   

  But, notwithstanding all that, Your Honor, this case again, it’s 

about tender.  Aside from the statute of limitations, it’s absolutely clear, 

and Mr. Jung confirmed it, he said look, it’s the nine months before the 

Notice of Delinquent Assessment, which was October of 2010, or he 

even said, or the Notice of Default which was in December of 2010.  So, 

we’re dealing with 2010, but I will say, the Nevada Supreme Court in 

Gray Eagle made it very clear, it’s the -- it’s up to nine months preceding 

the Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien where they called it the Notice 

of Delinquency.  Okay so, regardless, we’re in 2010. 

  Now, we know unequivocally Mr. Jung, Miles Bauer, used the 

quarterly of 162 times three to make it 486, we know that’s -- that was 

the incorrect amount.  Exhibit 11, Bates stamp number 215, very, very 

clear, for the period of January 1st, 2010 to December 31st, 2010, it was 

$180 quarterly.  We times that by four -- we times that by three for the 

nine months, that’s $540.  It’s just short and Ms. Susan Moses testified 

to that, that’s the number, because the other columns say Videira and 
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that’s another HOA, Your Honor. 

  So now, what’s the effect of that?  Well, it’s very clear, 

Diamond Spur is that leading case where, involving situations like this, 

published -- that said look, if it’s a tender and a rejection, we’re going to 

call it a valid tender.  The Supreme Court made it absolutely clear, it has 

to be for the full amount, which means the Supreme Court said -- 

  THE COURT:  In which case, again, I’m sorry? 

  MR. HONG:  That’s Diamond Spur.  

  THE COURT:  That’s Diamond Spur. 

BY MR. HONG:   

  That’s Diamond Spur.  And, the Supreme Court said look, if 

it’s for the full amount -- when we say the full amount, the super-priority 

amount, then -- and there’s a rejection like there was here, then it’s a 

valid tender.  It has to be for the full amount, so there can be no valid 

tender if it’s for less than the full amount, whether by error -- which was 

by error, and Mr. Jung, fair enough, he had 2,000 to 2,500 of these, Your 

Honor.  I mean, goodness sake, they’re going to make mistakes here 

and there and this was a mistake.   

  And, he also testified, they had open channels, via email even, 

to confirm with NAS saying, hey, we got this ledger in March of 2011, it 

doesn’t really show -- and that’s 134, it doesn’t show like the dates or 

whatever, can you give us one that’s more -- a little bit more -- with more 

information, which would have been Exhibit 11, 215.  They did not do 

that.  And again, that’s probably because they had many files and so 

forth.   

0872



 

53 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

  But, that’s the legal effect.  There cannot be a valid tender in 

this case, because the amount was deficient.  It’s just that simple.  And, 

the Nevada Supreme Court just recently, last year, in Resources Group, 

again confirmed in these HOA cases with super-priority portions alleged 

to being satisfied or not, the burden is on the bank to show that it was 

satisfied, okay?  They -- it just was not.  

  Now, I know what the bank’s going to argue.  They’re going to 

say, okay, even if it was the wrong amount, Jessup should apply.  And 

Jessup’s that case where it’s futility, where the first letter is sent to the 

HOA trustee, an HOA trustee sends a letter saying, look, we believe the 

HOA lien is junior to the super -- to the bank’s deed of trust, so any 

payments you’re going to make, we’re going to reject.  That can’t work 

because again, number one, that case is on reconsideration, and there 

was a oral argument, I believe, in October of last year on the 

reconsideration, so that is kind of out there.  But notwithstanding, even if 

that case stands, that’s based on futility, Your Honor.   

  And so, the bank can’t bootstrap that case to cases where 

they’ve actually tendered an amount, okay, because Jessup, again, is 

based on, we didn’t even attempt to physically tender because we 

thought it was futile.  Where here, clearly there’s no evidence that there 

was futility.  It’s the example -- the best example I can give is some -- a 

student taking an exam and then getting a D, and then saying, oh well, I 

shouldn’t have showed up, then that test doesn’t count.  No, Jessup is 

when a student calls in sick and doesn’t show up and argues I would 

have gotten an A.  Here, the student showed up, which means the Miles 
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Bauer did the attempt at tender, it was short, the student got a C, that’s 

the way it is.  There’s no A here.   

  So, that’s pretty much it, and it’s addressed in our motion also, 

just so Your Honor knows, any of these notices, there doesn’t need to be 

a delineation or a specification on the super-priority amount.  That’s 

been well-settled by the Nevada Supreme Court in the seminal SFR 

case.  The Nevada Supreme Court said no, no, no, just the total amount 

due is enough.  So, any argument by the bank here saying, look, the 

notices didn’t specify, delineate the super-priority portion, that’s -- that’s 

just contrary to Nevada law as to these HOA cases.   

  Finally, any argument of unfairness or oppression based on 

this ledger, that cannot stand per Shadow Canyon because again, there 

must be a showing that any act of unfairness, if it was unfair, if it was 

unfair, has to -- there has to be a nexus between that act of unfairness 

with the purchase price at the sale and/or affecting the sale.  And the 

burden of proof on that is on the bank, where the bank has to say, hey, 

based on this unfairness -- act of unfairness, we didn’t go to the sale or 

whatnot.  But, they -- the bank knew, clearly, after the rejection, Your 

Honor, that the sale was going to go forward.  And, the notices were all 

sent, there’s no issue about that, the posting, and whatnot.  

  So, with that, this is a case where my client should get 

judgment for quiet title declaring that the deed of trust was extinguished 

at the time of the sale.  It’s just there’s no ifs, and, or buts about it, really 

here.  So again, I know the bank’s going to argue Jessup, they’re going 

to -- they can’t get away from the amount being insufficient, so they’re 
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going to concede, yeah, Diamond Spur doesn’t fit, but they’re going to 

say, well, Jessup applies.  No, again, Jessup cannot apply because 

Jessup is in instances where no check was sent based on the belief that 

it would have been futile.  Here, that can’t be true because the check 

was sent, so they -- the Miles Bauer cannot have said that they believed 

it was futile, and Rock Jung would never have testified to that, nor did 

he.  

  So, with that, we rest.  And again, Your Honor, we ask Your 

Honor review the motion itself because we believe the motion on the 

statute of limitations, that’s -- that wipes it out.  But, even if it was to go 

forward, based on the evidence, there’s -- there was no tender -- there 

was no satisfaction of the super-priority amount, Your Honor.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, thanks, Mr. Hong.  

  MR. HONG:  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  And, Mr. Garner? 

  MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Judge.  I believe it just came 

through half an hour or so ago, we filed a trial brief; may I approach with 

a courtesy copy? 

  THE COURT:  Sure.  Thank you. 

CLOSING ARGUMENT BY THE DEFENSE 

BY MR. GARNER:   

  I will highlight a couple of the things in there during my closing, 

Your Honor.  First, to address the statute of limitations motion.  

  THE COURT:  You’re going to file this, right, so it’ll be part of 

the record? 
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  MR. GARNER:  It has been filed now.  

  MR. HONG:  It’s been filed.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  It’s been filed now, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

BY MR. GARNER:   

  Briefly address the Rule 50 motion, although I think in bench 

trials it’s more probably dubbed a Rule 52(c) motion.  Statute of 

limitations, Your Honor, is actually an affirmative defense.  It’s listed as 

an affirmative defense in the NRCPs and affirmative defenses are what?  

Waived, if not raised.  When, if ever, was this raised?  It was raised 

yesterday on the day of trial.  Was it raised in pleadings, Your Honor?  

No.  In fact, we don’t even have an answer from NV Eagles to the bank’s 

cross-claim.  So, how could it have asserted it?  There is no answer.  

  We are, essentially, Your Honor, the bank and NV Eagles, on 

equal footing with respect to our cross-claims, and here’s why.  Back in 

2013, within a few months of this HOA foreclosure sale, Melissa 

Lieberman, the former homeowner, filed suit, challenging the sale.  She 

sued NV Eagles’ predecessor, Underwood.  Underwood bought at the 

HOA foreclosure sale, transferred the property to NV Eagles after they 

had been sued by Melissa Lieberman.   

  And then they, Underwood, files their own lawsuit.  They do 

not name Bank of America, they do not name Bank of New York Mellon.  
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They named Pulte.  Pulte was the original lender.  If you look at Exhibit 

1, the Deed of Trust, Pulte was the original lender.  It was not the record 

beneficiary ever.  It was MERS and then Bank of New York Mellon.  But, 

within a few months, NV Eagles dismissed Pulte.   

  So, until July of last year, Your Honor, NV Eagles had zero 

claims against Bank of New York Mellon or BANA.  Just as BANA had 

zero claims against NV Eagles, and it was brought up at the calendar 

call in May.  There’s a minute order from that calendar call where this is 

raised, I think Mr. Brenner was here, Mr. Hong was here, and at that 

calendar call, you granted leave to the parties to fix this.  File your cross-

claims, which we did.  However, we are the only ones who answered the 

cross-claims and in those cross-claims asserted tender.  It -- that wasn’t 

the first time it was raised though.  

  Back in 2016, when it was The Wright Law Group, who 

represented NV Eagles, there was summary judgment motion practice.  

And, that issue of tender was adequately briefed in 2016.  And even in 

the -- 2016, nearly four years ago, NV Eagles did not raise statute of 

limitations at all.  

  And as -- we also cited to you the law in our opposition, Your 

Honor, that statute of limitations don’t apply to affirmative defenses 

anyway.  They only apply to claims.  And so, if the cross-claims -- if 

we’re tardy, so is Plaintiff, or so is NV Eagles here.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

BY MR. GARNER:   

  We’re on equal footing. 
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  And, Exhibit D to Mr. Hong’s motion, the TWT Investments 

minute order, I read that.  I didn’t see in there, Your Honor, your 

application of a statute of limitations to a defense.  That minute order 

discussed a statute of limitations as to the claim under HERA and the 

claim under tender, not to the defenses thereof.  

  So -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

BY MR. GARNER:   

  -- that’s what I have to say about that.  

  Now, let’s get to the tender.  I don’t think anybody in this room, 

including Mr. Hong, disputes that lenders have the right to pay the 

super-priority.  Nobody disputes that.  But, it seems like maybe there is a 

dispute as to whether or not we’re entitled to know what that is.  But, 

how can there be dispute?  It’s like saying -- I like basketball analogies.  

You get the right to a free throw, but you don’t have the right to the ball.  

How are you supposed to do it then?  If we have the right to pay the 

super-priority, we are entitled to know what it is.   

  In none of the recorded documents that you have, the Notice 

of Delinquent Assessment Lien, the Notice of Default, the Notice of Sale, 

not one of those even says super-priority, or says what the applicable 

amount is.  So, we asked.  We asked NAS, we’d like to pay this amount, 

please tell us what it is.  Did it give us that number?  No.  Instead, it gave 

us some kind of a ledger.  You used the word, when examining Mr. 

Jung, a vague one.  I agree, it is vague.   

  They did not give us the fuller one that they have in their file, 
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that Mr. Hong examined Ms. Moses and Mr. Jung on, the one that 

identifies dates of applicability and HOAs.  They didn’t give that to us.  

They could have, and that would have been very helpful.  And, we didn’t 

choose what they gave to us.  They chose to give us the vague ledger 

that only had present rate and a handful of prior rates.  

  So, Miles Bauer made a good faith estimate of what it was and 

delivered payment.  And I don’t even know that delivery of the payment 

is really an issue anymore in this case, Your Honor.  It seems like the 

entire closing argument was about the amount.  But, in any event, it was 

proven.  The policies, practices, and procedures, the Legal Wings 

receipt, the ProLaw, all of it proved that that check was delivered.  

  Now, did NAS reject this check, Your Honor, because it was 

for $486, as opposed to 534 or 540?  Where is the evidence that they 

rejected it for that reason?  You don’t have it.  In fact, you have the 

opposite.  You have testimony from both Mr. Jung and from Ms. Moses 

who said what?  We would have rejected any check that came with that 

letter, irrespective of the amount.  If NAS had told us, hey, use this other 

number, Mr. Jung said, we would have delivered that.  But, is there any 

doubt in your mind based on the testimony and the practices and 

procedures of NAS that they would have accepted it? 

  So, let’s get to the amount.  Diamond Spur, Your Honor, says 

that the bank was entitled to rely on the representations of the HOA as 

to what was owed.  So, if the HOA through NAS tells us, here’s what’s 

owed, but they don’t give us sufficient information, we are entitled to rely 

on the information given.   
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  In addition, this is on the bottom of page eight of our trial brief, 

under the tender doctrine, Your Honor, and I’m quoting here from a case 

out of Utah, and there’s string site to other cases in Minnesota and 

Montana, let me start with the first one.  A person to whom a tender is 

made must at the time specify the objections to it or they are waived.  

They’re waived.  They can’t -- what is this now, 2000 -- six and a half 

years later, resurrect those objections through trial and say, well really 

our objection to it was it -- was that it was $48 off.   

  Those are waived, and you see that in the Utah case, the 

Minnesota case, and the Montana case we cited on pages eight and 

nine of our brief.  So, not only are we entitled to rely on what NAS sent 

to us, NAS has to tell us the right amount at the time or it’s waived.  And 

NV Eagles doesn’t get to resurrect that right.   

  In addition, Your Honor, there’s often a debate over statutory 

compliance, whether it requires strict compliance or substantial 

compliance.  Substantial compliance, Your Honor, was created to -- and 

I’m quoting from page nine of our brief, the Leyva case, that’s a 2011 

Nevada Supreme Court case, the doctrine substantial compliance may 

be sufficient to avoid three things: harsh, unfair, or absurd 

consequences.  That’s the purpose of substantial compliance.  

  The Nevada Supreme Court has applied substantial 

compliance to NRS 116.  That’s also on page nine of our brief.  They 

applied it, Your Honor, to the HOA’s compliance with the notice 

provisions of NRS 116.  Okay?  There were -- there was a lot of litigation 

for years over whether or not NRS 116 was constitutional on its face.  
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Did it require notice?  Did it not require notice?  It was finally ended, I 

think, several years ago and the Nevada Supreme Court said, yes, NRS 

116 required the HOAs to send notice to the banks.  

  And then, in later opinions, they said, well actually, it only 

required the HOA to substantially comply.  So, if there were errors in 

their actual compliance with the notice, so long as the bank got some 

notice, it’s okay.  Okay, you will not be defeating this HOA sale based on 

those types of errors.  Shouldn’t the same be true of the bank’s 

compliance with its right to tender?  The answer is yes.   

  As the Supreme Court said, as it related to a mechanic’s lien, 

this is the Fondren case cited on page nine of our trial brief.  There, the 

Nevada Supreme Court rejected an argument that a mechanic’s lien was 

invalid due to some minor math miscalculations, saying this: it is not 

realistic to become so technical that such errors defeat an otherwise a 

valid lien for a large amount.   

  What was this lien for, Your Honor, that brings us here today?  

Ms. Lieberman borrowed nearly half-a-million dollars.  And, with interest 

now, and it’s a stipulated fact, it’s over $800,000.  So, we’re going to 

say, Bank of New York Mellon, you lose your lien for $800,000 because 

of a difference of maybe $48, which you would have paid if you had 

known it was inaccurate, and which you could have calculated if you had 

been given proper information.  

  This goes along, Your Honor, with the Latin phrase that’s in 

Black’s Law Dictionary, de minimis non curat lex, meaning the law does 

not concern itself with trifles.  That’s the substantial compliance doctrine.   
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  Therefore, under Jessup, and applying these other doctrines, 

the tender was good.  But, let’s imagine, Your Honor, that we didn’t 

deliver a check at all.  How is it under facts like Jessup where we don’t 

deliver a check, the bank wins, but in cases like this, where we actually 

deliver one, and no one tells us its wrong, we lose?  Under the facts of 

this case, and the law of tender, as articulated in Jessup -- and Jessup 

didn’t create new law, Your Honor.  Jessup just articulated it and applied 

it to NRS 116.  

  We didn’t have to deliver a check at all under the facts in this 

case.  Why?  Because it would have been futile and because NAS really 

prevented us from knowing what it was.   

  The cases cited within Jessup, such as Mark Turner 

Properties and the Am. Jur., C.J.S., as we cite them on page ten, say 

that delivery of a check is excused.  When?  When the party entitled to 

payment by declaration or by conduct.  So, you can do this by words or 

you can do this by actions.  Proclaims that if a tender of the amount due 

is made, it will not be accepted.  Do we have that conduct, Your Honor, 

the evidence of such conduct here?  How could NAS have been more 

clear than in the 2,500 times that Mr. Jung said he sent checks to them, 

they rejected them? 

  And, if Mr. Jung had sent a check for 534, 540, or like he said 

he did many other times, for a full nine months plus some reasonable 

costs and fees, so more than the super-priority, even when they 

tendered more than the super-priority, NAS rejected it.   

  Delivering a check, Your Honor, can also be excused under 
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the law if the amount depends on information that is ascertainable only 

from accounts of the creditor.  You’ll see that on page 15 of our trial 

brief.  This is black-letter law from the Am. Jur. and C.J.S.  C.J.S. says, 

tender of an amount due is waived when the party entitled to payment 

obstructs or prevents a tender.   

  By not giving us the information, or just giving us the number, 

why play the games, just give us the number.  If they prevent it or 

obstruct it, delivery is irrelevant.  We didn’t have to deliver a check at all.  

Footnote 6, on page 15 of our trial brief, Your Honor, also has a handful 

of other string cites about obstruction and not divulging information, and 

misrepresentations as to the amount.   

  So, whether you want to decide this case on Jessup and 

substantial compliance -- or sorry, Diamond Spur with substantial 

compliance, or Jessup with excuse and obstruction, either way it is the 

same.  Bank of America, the servicer at the time, tried to exercise its 

right and did more than just try.  They did a lot to exercise it.  And, NAS, 

under any circumstances, would have rejected their payment.  But, the 

law says it’s good enough.  

  As a back-up, Your Honor, we have the Shadow Canyon 

analysis, requires two things, one, an inadequate price and then some 

element of unfairness.  And, some times we refer to this as sliding the 

scale, or hydraulic, the more unfair the price, the less you have to show 

the unfairness.  You only have evidence of the fair market value, that’s 

the measuring stick that the law uses.  You only have our evidence and 

it’s part -- 
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  THE COURT:  So, you’re talking about commercial 

reasonability? 

  MR. GARNER:  Correct, yes.  Some people call it that, some 

people call it the equities -- 

  THE COURT:  Or un-reasonability.  

  MR. GARNER:  I’m sorry? 

  THE COURT:  Or un-reasonability, as it were.  

  MR. GARNER:  Correct.  I call it the equities or Shadow 

Canyon.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

BY MR. GARNER:   

  The fair market value, according to Exhibit 12, which is our 

expert appraiser, and stipulated fact number 16, it’s $430,000.  

Underwood picked this property up for 30.  That’s 7 percent.  Pretty 

grossly inadequate, which means we only need slight additional 

evidence of unfairness.   

  Do we have it here?  We do, because Shadow Canyon said, 

whether a senior lender tried to tender payment to the association is 

significant.  Here, we tried, they didn’t give us the number, we did our 

best estimate as to what it was, paid it, they rejected it.  And as the 

evidence showed you, whatever amount we sent that was less than the 

3,800 and something other -- or other dollars, any amount we sent that 

was less than that, NAS would have rejected.  

  Plaintiff’s status as a bona fide purchaser, Your Honor, is 

relevant under the Shadow Canyon equities analysis, but what evidence 
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did they present to you that they were that?  None.  The case we cite to 

you in our trial brief, RLP-Ampus, says if you claim that status, you got to 

prove it, you can’t just say you are.  Even if they had come here to try to 

claim that status, Your Honor, I think all the pre-sale warnings, the 

deeds, they leave no room for it.   

  When you go to one of these auctions, you know based on the 

publicly recorded statements, and as Ms. Moses said, the auctioneer 

said it.  We’re going to give you title with no guarantees, no warranties, 

no nothing.  Good luck to you.  How can you accept that and then come 

to court and say well, I thought I was getting more? 

  For any of these reasons, Your Honor, any of them are 

sufficient to rule in the bank’s favor, but taken altogether, are more than 

sufficient.  So, the Bank of New York Mellon, who is the record 

beneficiary, Your Honor, requests judgment against NV Eagles, and in 

its favor on all the cross-claims between them, and requests a 

declaratory judgment that Plaintiff owns this property subject to the 

deed.  Bank of America was never the deed of trust beneficiary, it was 

only under servicer.  So, I think with respect to its status as either Cross-

Claimant or Cross-Defendant, it should be dismissed entirely.  This 

really just is Bank of New York Mellon versus NV Eagles.  

  And then, as we discussed yesterday at the beginning of the 

trial, all other claims, counter-claims, cross-claims, that haven’t 

sufficiently been dismissed, we’d ask that you dismiss those because no 

other party participated in pretrial or at trial, so.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  
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  MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  

  THE COURT:  All right.  Well, most lawyers that have bench 

trials here know that either contemporaneous with the end of the case or 

close to contemporaneous with the end, meaning some deliberation, I 

give a decision.  And then the prevailing party submits the order.  

Typically, those decisions from me are involved.  They reference exhibits 

and they’re 30 minutes, 45-minute-type decisions.  Here, what I’m 

inclined to do is call you back to court and actually afford an opportunity, 

not necessary, not required, but an opportunity for any kind of briefing on 

what I’m going to say right now.   

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  You don’t have to do it, but you can.  

  So, my plan is to have both of you come back here live in 

court, and at that time, I’d give the decision on the motion that’s pending 

and then also, the trial itself.  And so, we’d have to schedule that.  My 

guess is, taken as a whole, it’d be an hour long court session that we 

have -- I don’t know if I’d take the whole hour, but I would like to explain 

it all to you once I figure it out.   

  The reason I, in this case, want to take that opportunity -- now 

there’s -- no, actually multiple reasons.  One is, obviously you filed a trial 

brief, that I just -- and you cited it a few times, Mr. Garner, in your 

closing, but I haven’t seen it.  So, I -- I’d like to look at that.   

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  Further, I’d like to look more intently, of course, 

at the motion paperwork.  But on the trial itself, in addition to looking at 
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your trial brief, I also, of course, want to look at the cases that have been 

mentioned in support of the issue that seems to be the mainline issue for 

the Court.  I mean, take a better look at Diamond Spur, look at Jessup, 

see if I could -- if I could even look at Jessup, presently.  There’s been, I 

think, some lawyers have come into court and said that Chief Justice 

Gibbons said something along the lines of nobody should look at this 

right now.  But so I need -- you know -- and you could -- you know, 

there’s that.   

  Shadow Canyon, on commercial reasonability, that was an 

interesting argument, one I haven’t -- I hadn’t thought of, and that’s 

good, because lawyers are supposed to educate Courts and I hadn’t 

thought about that.  The 7 percent plus this idea that you did try and 

what have you, that’s an interesting argument, one I haven’t thought 

about, actually.  But anyway, there’s a lot of moving parts to it.   

  But, I do want to at least make some findings that could be 

relevant to any further briefing as between now and when I give the 

decision because I guess it would start with this.  It’s a question.  Is there 

another case where this has happened, this being a clear, you know, 

personal delivery using a runner, of a tender amount, but it just 

happened to be short?  Has this ever happened in all these thousands of 

HOA cases that then resulted in a decision where I know definitively the 

answer as to what an Appellate Court would say, just on that point?   

  I realize there’s other points, I realize no two cases are ever 

going to be exactly the same in this arena, but just on the one issue 

where it goes like this.  There is a super-priority amount.  I’ll make, 
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obviously, that finding.  That super-priority amount in this case would 

have been from the year 2010, because I think Exhibits 3 and 4 start the 

process.  Exhibit 3, being the Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien, 

Exhibit 4 being the Notice of Default, Election to Sell, those respectively, 

are from October 2010 and December 2010.  So, the super-priority 

amount would have had to pre-dated those notices to be operational as 

a matter of law.  So, we do know now, in hindsight, I know from an item 

that Mr. Jung didn’t have -- let’s see -- 

  MR. HONG:  Exhibit 11, Bates stamp 215, Your Honor.  

  THE COURT:  2-1-5? 

  MR. HONG:  Yeah.  

  THE COURT:  Yeah, 215 shows clearly that the assessments 

were for the year 2010, 180, for the entire year, from 1/1/2010 to 

12/31/2010.  That is the whole year of 2010, clearly.  It covers every day 

of that year, and it’s 180.  And then from January 1st of 2011 through 

July 31st of 2011, again, referencing page 215, it’s 162.  So, since the 

lien -- the super-priority lien, of course, would have had to pre-date the 

October 2010 notice or the December 2010 notice, it’s all 2010, as fate 

would have it, because even if you used October, there’s still nine 

months of that calendar year to represent a super-priority time period.   

  So, clearly, it seems to me, I’ll make a finding, it seems pretty 

clear that the evidence now at trial is that the super-priority amount 

would have had to have been 180 times three, which is 540.  So, I think 

Mr. Hong had it right that it’s 540.  The bank, through Miles Bauer, 

tendered 486.  So, let’s see, that is 50 -- what is that? 
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  MR. GARNER:  54. 

  THE COURT:  $56 short? 

  MR. GARNER:  I think it’s $54, but -- 

  THE COURT:  54?  Okay, yeah, why don’t we figure that out?  

540 minus 486 is 4 -- 34? Is that right? 

  MR. GARNER:  It should be 54 but --  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Nobody’s good at math?  That’s why -- I 

hear lawyers all the time say, that’s why I went to law school.  Could 

somebody please here figure out what 540 minus 486 is please and let 

me know? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. HONG:  54 

  THE COURT:  54.  Okay, so you’re $54 short.   

  Now -- so, I’m just saying, I don’t know definitively what just 

the Court would say about that point.  I get that there’s all kinds of 

moving parts, that here there was a request, and you got this vague 

ledger.   

  It’s -- does seem to me that Mr. Jung, I’ll just say it, I mean 

we’ve all not necessarily danced around it, but we were very courteous 

and respectful towards him, and we acknowledged he’s had thousands 

of cases.  But you know, I’m just a Judge that doesn’t do as much as 

you guys do in the trenches on HOA, although I do my fair share.  And, 

you saw what happened even here live in court.  I happened to see the 

little number two, little number two, the little number four, and a little 

0889



 

70 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

number four, and it did -- now it seems like Exhibit 134 should have led 

him to do something to not be so confident that 486 is the number, 

frankly.  What that something would have been -- I mean, there certainly 

was time too, because if you look at this all happening, he gets the 134 

exhibit March of 2011 or so and the sale is June 7th of 2013.   

  So that does give, respectfully, a lawyer, who, like Ms. 

Deloney said and like he said, you know, their primary mission is to hire 

counsel to protect the lien, and you know, provide counsel with funds to 

pay it.  And so, he got it wrong and -- so, with all the other moving parts 

in there, I appreciate the arguments and I -- I’ll tell you right now, I bet 

you, we’ll never know.  But, I bet you out of 32 of us, half of us would 

agree with the Plaintiffs and half of us would agree with the defense on 

something like this because that’s probably what would happen.   

  So, that means I need to spend some time to figure it out, look 

at Diamond Spur, look at, to the extent I can, Jessup, just on this point.  I 

know Shadow Canyon, but that’s another legal concept altogether that 

could separate and distinctly decide the case.   

  But -- so, I’ll ask you to come back to court, but in the interim, I 

mean, I -- is there ever been a case, in the HOA arena, just on one 

limited thing -- and again, I’ve said it a few times, I realize there’s a lot of 

moving parts, but just on this one point, where a tender was provided by 

runner or otherwise clearly undisputedly provided prior to the sale, and it 

just was short?  It was not the amount of the super-priority amount.  It 

was off by some dollars, whatever they may be.  And, the Appellate 

Court has rendered a decision that I can now use to determine the legal 
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significance of that particular limited event.  Does anybody know of one? 

  MR. GARNER:  Not off the top of my head, but -- 

  MR. HONG:  Well, no, Your Honor, and we’ll brief it, but again, 

Diamond Spur can’t be any clearer.  I mean, as you heard me say, I’m 

not being argumentative, but it -- 

  THE COURT:  No, I understand your argument and I -- 

  MR. HONG:  -- has to be for the -- 

  THE COURT:  -- haven’t re-read that case -- 

  MR. HONG:  -- full amount.  

  THE COURT:  -- but I’m just -- 

  MR. HONG:  Yeah.  

  THE COURT:  -- you know, Diamond Spur, I -- you 

represented stood for the proposition that, you know, they have to tender 

the full amount.  

  MR. HONG:  It has to be -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. HONG:  -- the full amount.  

  THE COURT:  But, what I’m -- 

  MR. HONG:  Of the super-priority.  

  THE COURT:  I understand that. 

  MR. HONG:  Of the super-priority.  

  THE COURT:  Of the super-priority.  

  MR. HONG:  Right.  

  THE COURT:  But, what I’m saying is, do we have a case in 

Nevada yet, from an Appellate Court, where unfortunately for whatever 
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reason, or maybe fortunately, in your view, the tender amount was off, it 

was wrong, it was not the super-priority amount, it was less than that?  

Do we have anything where a Court at least gives some guidance as to 

what now the trial judges should do with something like that? 

  MR. HONG:  I’ll reach out to my colleagues, because if 

anything it would have to -- it would be an unpublished order, obviously.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. HONG:  It would -- yeah. 

  THE COURT:  So, I’m going to ask you to come back to  

court -- 

  MR. HONG:  Right.  

  THE COURT:  -- for the whole decision -- 

  MR. HONG:  Right.  

  THE COURT:  -- but in that mix -- 

  MR. HONG:  We’ll look for it.  

  THE COURT:  -- I’d like to give you a little time to look at  

this -- 

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  -- because I’m making a finding right here, right 

now -- 

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  -- that it was the wrong amount.  

  MR. HONG:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  That the right amount was something more 

than 486; I think the right amount was 540, but it was more than 486.  
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And so, the amount delivered was incorrect and then rejected.  So, is 

there any law talking about just that, the significance as a matter of law, 

that type of an event? 

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  All the while, of course, considering everything 

else here.  

[Colloquy between counsel] 

  MR. GARNER:  Can we have two weeks to get you those? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, of course.  

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  Two weeks from now is? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  The 29th of January.  Do you want that 

at 9:30, Judge? 

  THE COURT:  5:00 that day.  What day of the week is that? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  That’s Wednesday.  

  MR. GARNER:  Well, do you -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  -- want to set that as deadline for the briefs 

and then come -- 

  THE COURT:  No, that’s the briefing schedule. 

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  So, by 5:00 o’clock -- 

  MR. GARNER:  Perfect. 

  THE COURT:  -- it’ll be a simultaneous briefing schedule.  The 

best practice is for both of you, even if you get the brief done before that 
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day, you just send it over on the same day, that way nobody’s 

responding to each other.  

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  So, what’s that date again, please? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  January 29th.  

  THE COURT:  At 5:00 o’clock, that Wednesday; is that it?  

Wednesday? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Yes.  

  MR. GARNER:  Perfect.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, so that Wednesday, by 5:00, file it and 

then -- or just file it on that day -- 

  MR. GARNER:  Yeah.  

  THE COURT:  -- and then also send over a courtesy copy, 

okay? 

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  And then -- all right, then we’re going to come 

back in for the decision, is what we’ll do.  

  MR. GARNER:  Do you want to set that today, as well, or no? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, I’d like to on your schedules.  It -- I just 

need probably about a week from the time of the simultaneous due date 

for the briefing.  

  MR. GARNER:  And, do you want to bring us back on a 

normal calendar or like on a -- 

  THE COURT:  No.  
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  MR. GARNER:  -- 1:00 p.m. time for -- 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, time where I can talk for 45 minutes, 

probably.  

  THE COURT CLERK:  Do you want a Wednesday, again? 

  THE COURT:  I don’t know, do you have the whole calendar 

there?  Any day -- 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Yeah.  

  THE COURT:  -- at least a week after the due date.  

  THE COURT CLERK:  Yeah, the following Wednesday’s clear 

as of now, the 5th.  

  THE COURT:  It is? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Mm-hmm. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, the 5th of February? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Yes.  

  MR. GARNER:  That works.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Does that work for everybody? 

  MR. HONG:  Yes.  

  THE COURT:  That afternoon is available -- 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Yep.  

  THE COURT:  -- or the whole day is available? 

  THE COURT CLERK:  The whole day is available.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, is there a time that you’d like to do that? 

  MR. GARNER:  Morning -- 

  THE COURT:  On that Wednesday? 

  MR. GARNER:  -- or afternoon is fine with me, Judge.  
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  MR. HONG:  How about 11:00? 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. HONG:  Because that way we’ll be done by lunch.  

  MR. GARNER:  Just go to lunch right after? 

  MR. HONG:  Yeah, we can go to lunch right after.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, so 11:00 o’clock that day for the live 

decision, prevailing party to draft all orders, so if you win your motion, 

you -- 

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  -- draft the order.  You lose the motion then he 

drafts the order, and then regarding the trial, same way. 

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  That’ll help the Court, you know, I’ve  

gotten -- 

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  And -- 

  THE COURT:  -- I’ve gotten to that point because, I’ll tell you, 

it is my view that in these all civil departments, there’s just no way to do 

business any other way.  It’s just too many cases, too many motions, too 

many hearings, you’ve got to let lawyers draft orders for the most part.  

That just helps the Court.  But, what you do get from me is a rather 

detailed, you know, bench order that you don’t normally get, so that’s 

good, I think.   

  MR. GARNER:  Now, that -- for the defense would just be for 

the announcement of the decision, no further argument? 
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  THE COURT:  Right -- 

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  -- no further argument.  

  MR. GARNER:  Perfect.  

  THE COURT:  I mean, your brief will do that.  

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  MR. GARNER:  Very good.  

  THE COURT:  Okay, so I’ll just give the decision at that time --  

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  -- with that schedule.  And, thanks a lot.  

  MR. HONG:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

  MR. GARNER:  All right, Thank you, Judge.  

[Proceeding concluded at 11:43 a.m.] 

* * * * * * * 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed 
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Las Vegas, Nevada; Wednesday, February 5, 2020 

 

[Proceeding commenced at 11:23 a.m.] 

  THE CLERK:  Case A685203 Melissa Lieberman versus 

Mediera Canyon Community Association.  

  THE COURT:  Make appearances, please.  

  MR. HONG:  Yes, good morning, Your Honor, Joseph Hong 

for I believe NV Eagles.  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  

  MR. GARNER:  Yep, and Rex Garner on behalf of Bank of 

America and Bank of New York Mellon.  

  THE COURT:  All right, let me start by saying, sincerely, it 

truly is always nice to have either one of you guys in here.  I think your 

clients ought to be happy with you and a reason for that is because, you 

know, lawyers are supposed to zealously represent clients and you guys 

do that, but they’re not required to actually care, truly.  But, you guys 

have demonstrated to me over and over again that you really care.  

That’s reflected in the briefing that is in this situation, during the trial, 

after the trial, and just the way that you conduct yourselves.  You help 

the Court by agreeing to things that there’s no sense in fighting over, but 

the arguments you make are impassioned and I could tell you really 

care, so I appreciate that.  I know when I have either one of you in here 

it’s going to be interesting and done the way that it should be.  So, I 

wanted you now both to know that.  

  In addition to that, you know, another thing I think for a trial 
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lawyer that’s being done here, that’s a wonderful thing to do, of course, 

is to perfect your issues and you’ve both done that, whatever issues they 

may be, commercial reasonableness, unreasonableness, if you will, the 

tender scenario, and everything else about this that came up.  I mean, 

you’ve done what you need to do in my view to perfect issues that we 

oftentimes, of course, now see or have seen for some time, that the 

Appellate Courts involve themselves with in the HOA arena.  In fact, I’m 

going to talk about Diamond Spur and Jessup, to some extent, in this 

decision.  So, we know that in the HOA area these cases pretty much 

regularly percolate up there.  I don’t know how many HOA cases there 

have been in the District Court that have made their way to the Appellate 

Courts, but I bet you that number’s a lot, probably even more than 

criminal cases, it’s -- I don’t know, but it’s a lot of cases.  

  All right so, with all that, in this case there was and I think 

there still is a motion that the Plaintiffs brought asking me to provide a 

summary judgment based upon the tender defense being precluded.  I’m 

going to deny that motion, as I do think the bank could bring, under 

these circumstances, the tender defense.  And, I think the best argument 

for that really is spelled out in the opposition that was filed by Mr. 

Garner.  And, page three of that, I -- I’ll just incorporate by reference and 

agree with pretty much what you said on page three of your opposition.   

  In other words, I think there was plenty of notice, even in the 

summary judgment activity, there’s plenty of notice that you had a tender 

defense.  And, I agree with everything else you said in there, as well.  

So, I’ll just incorporate that by reference, that means there is a tender 
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defense in the case.  

  All right so, pretty much without further delaying it, I am going 

to tell you that under the circumstances here, after reviewing all the 

items after we left court last time, again, last night and this morning, 

reading over both of the post-trial briefs that you provided -- again, I 

think all -- both of you did what you need to do to perfect all your issues, 

but it’s time for me to make a decision.  You know, it’s not one I’d bet my 

life on, as oftentimes is the case when you’re making decisions as a 

Judge, but I think it’s the right decision, I think it’s a solid decision, and 

so, in this situation, Mr. Hong, I’m going to tell you that you’re going to 

prevail.  And so, let me give you all the reasons for that.  

  The primary reason for it -- or two primary reasons will be -- 

and I’ll cover it more in depth, but let me give you an overview on it.  I 

think that the tender itself, mainly, has to be for the correct amount, and 

if it’s below the correct amount, I think that renders it fatal, or I think it 

makes it such that if you have time and notice that it was rejected 

because it was too low, you should cure it.  And, I’m going to talk about 

that and cite some things from these two cases having to do with that.   

  So, the bottom line, Mr. Garner, the reason why I think Mr. 

Hong’s client does not take the property subject to the bank’s lien is 

because as I look at it, the -- I’ll just say it because I always say it the 

way I think it, I think Mr. Jung made a mistake.  That’s what I really think.  

And he, on behalf of the bank, sent the wrong amount, it was off by not a 

lot of money, but it was below what it needed to be.  And, I think that 

mainly Diamond Spur sends a clear message that it has to be at least up 
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to the minimum.  If it’s an overpayment, the bank’s in good shape, but it 

has to at least be the correct payment.  And, I think that’s primarily what 

happened on that as I’ll explain more in detail.   

  And then, the other mainline item that you brought up really is 

an area of equity having to do with commercial reasonableness, and 

while it’s true that the 7 percent amount meets a threshold requirement 

that the bank would have to meet, it’s you know, below 20 percent, it’s 7 

percent, below 10 percent.  I think that the test to be applied to that is a 

conjunctive test, meaning there has -- and it’s well-spelled out by the 

way in Mr. Hong’s brief, in fact, I’m going to steal from it in my decision, 

here.  Mr. Hong’s post-trial brief I think accurately shows what the legal 

standard is and the bank knows it too, of course.  But, I just think the 

other prong of the commercial reasonability, un-reasonability test is not 

met, in that there’s not some kind of unfairness or you know, something 

bad, fraud, unfairness, or whatever -- you know, the -- I’ll talk about the 

standard more specifically.  I’m just giving you a preview that I don’t 

think the second part of the test is met to where something -- I didn’t see 

any real evidence in the case that now made it such that the price was 

low for some reason consistent with the test.  

  So, because the tender was too low, because there was time 

to fix it and notice to fix it, and it wasn’t, and because though 7 percent 

of the market value was what the $30,000 payment was, the second 

prong of that test is not met and so it’s not commercially unreasonable.  

And whatever other issues in here, you know, I find for the Plaintiffs in 

this case.  So, let me give you the main analysis as to why that is.  
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Maybe I’ll just go through highlighting both of your post-trial briefs 

because they were helpful to me.   

  The bank’s brief, of course, indicates that the loan servicer, 

Bank of America, tendered payment in good faith after calculating the 

superpriority amount.  I agree that Mr. Jung, or counsel for the bank, 

now attributable to the bank, it’s their agent -- so, the bank, in good faith, 

made a tender, I’ll give you that.  It’s just that they got it wrong by way of 

the amount as Court’s going to cover.  

  So, Mr. Jung sends over the correspondence, NAS responds, 

and what we have by way of response is trial exhibit number nine, page 

134, which I did think was very relevant during the trial.  Just to let you 

know, I haven’t touched it since the trial, and this is what that exhibit 

looks like.  So, I thought it was a significant exhibit, spending a lot of 

time trying to figure it out.  And, it is that exhibit more than anything else 

that I think clearly shows the error, if you will, of Counsel Jung’s ways, 

because to generally describe this exhibit, it does include differing rates.  

And, this led to what I think was the fatal problem.   

  If you look at 134, Exhibit 9, it gives certain quarterly 

assessment amounts and right underneath that talks about number of 

months delinquent.  And, there’s a column where it’s 162 with a number 

two under it, then 210 with a number two under it, and so on along that 

line.  And you know, if you look at the whole record here, you can see 

that of course even at times, I struggled with trying to figure out from this 

document what would be the nine-month superpriority.   

  And, Mr. Hong’s brief is correct that at the last -- at the ending 
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of the last court session, I did more definitively say that the lien was 540.  

And so, I agree with that being the actual amount of the nine-month lien 

and the 486 was sent by Miles Bauer on behalf of the bank.  That 486 

was arrived upon by virtue of the fact this is a quarterly assessment, so 

a quarter of a year is three months, so in order to get nine months, you 

have to multiply that number by three.  And so, one -- Mr. Jung 

multiplied 162 by three and got 486 and sent over that check.   

  The problem is, it’s clear from the document that he had that 

the 162 covered two months -- or two three-month periods, or six 

months total is what it would be.  So, you have to go and get another 

number, and it turns out as it -- all the other numbers are higher than 

162; they’re either 210, 180, 234.  I think it’s reasonable to use the 

higher number next door to the 162 and come up with the 540, is what it 

is.  And so, I end up agreeing and I make a Finding of Fact that I agree 

with the Plaintiff’s side of it that the actual nine-month superpriority 

assessment amount was 540.  So, Miles Bauer sent a check for 486, 

which was less than that and so that’s what happened.  

  Now, going back to the Bank’s brief, you do say in there and 

it’s an argument made that well, there’s -- there was this clear evidence, 

which I agree there was evidence, that the standard practice during the 

relevant time was to, in any event, reject these tender attempts because 

of this language saying look, this essentially dispenses with any and all 

claims, and covers the lien, and all that.  And so, part of the argument 

the bank had in the case was look, yeah -- and this is my way of 

paraphrasing it, you know, yeah, we see that we might have sent less 

0904



 

8 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

than what was required, we sent 486 instead of 540, but that’s 

insignificant because the practice was to reject anyway, so basically they 

were going to reject it even if it was the right amount.  I see that.  But, 

I’m going to tell you there’s evidence in the case to suggest something 

different than that and that is at 141.   

  There is an exhibit in here that I think tells a bit of a story on 

this and that is Exhibit 9, page 141, and if you look at that exhibit you 

can see that there’s a notation on this slip that gives us insight as to why 

the item was rejected.  And, what it says there, again on page 141 of 

Exhibit 9 at the bottom, on this little slip: won’t accept, not paid in full, per 

Carly.  So, that’s evidence that the reason the 486 is not accepted is 

because it’s not enough.  And, that’s -- that is evidence of that.  That’s 

not determinative of the whole case, but I want to make a finding that 

that is solid evidence that a primary reason for rejecting was that it 

wasn’t a sufficient payment.  Although, the Court, of course, does accept 

and knows it to be true, that there was a general pattern of rejecting 

these, anyway.  But, here we do have affirmative evidence that a 

primary reason was it wasn’t the right amount.  

  All right.  All right, so now I’m going to get to Mr. Hong’s brief 

and I said I would talk about it because it -- I think it says I -- you know, 

it’s -- it spells out what I think was in my mind anyway as to what I ought 

to do with this case.  Because Mr. Hong, in this brief, I -- rightly so or 

correctly, outlines the reason for the break between the last court 

session and this one when he says on the first page, the Court directed 

the parties to submit post-trial briefs outlining if there were any cases 
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from Nevada Supreme Court or Nevada Appellate Court to the effect of 

the bank having attempted tender in incorrect amount and what does 

that really mean.  And, that’s true, that’s you know -- I do try to the best 

of my ability to get things right around here.  I don’t think anybody’s 

going to get everything right, but I try.   

  And, I have to say after the last session, I wondered as a 

matter of law, what was the real effect of this 486 when it’s supposed to 

be 540, issue?  So, that’s the passage and Mr. Hong, in your brief, I 

appreciated it because that’s exactly what I tried to do.  And then, in 

looking at what you came up with, you say the answer to this question is, 

yes.  In other words, is there case law that addresses this situation?  

And, you provide Diamond Spur and I think there’s also this idea of 

Jessup that comes up from both briefs.   

  But, I really think Diamond Spur is the case that gives me the 

definitive answer and it sort of was mentioned, I think, last time around, 

but you know, the break and then the briefing gave me an opportunity, of 

course, to look at it more specifically.  So, I have that case here, that’s 

what’s in my hand right now.  I have the Diamond Spur case from the 

Nevada Supreme Court and I’ve outlined it consistent with our case and 

the issues presented here.  

  If you look at Diamond Spur, in that case the bank tendered 

$720 which was accurate.  The letter included with the tender stated, the 

HOA’s acceptance would be an express agreement.  All right, but in the 

Diamond Spur case, the -- it was not a lesser amount, it was the correct 

amount submitted.  But, the guidance as to our issue does come later in 
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the decision, where on page five of the decision, the Supreme Court 

says in reviewing the Diamond Spur case, the record establishes that 

Bank of America tendered the correct amount to satisfy the superpriority 

portion of the lien on the property, nine months’ worth of assessment 

fees, totaled 720.  Going down on -- going down further on page five, a 

new paragraph, in addition to payment in full, valid tender must be 

unconditional or with conditions on which the tendering party has a right 

to insist.  

  So, there’s a passage that I think gives the best guidance.  

And that is, again, the Supreme Court answers this question, does it 

have to be payment in full, or could it be close, or could it be less?  I 

think Diamond Spur does stand for the proposition that it has to be 

payment in full in order to be a valid tender, and that’s not what we have 

here.  And so, that’s what wins the day for Mr. Hong’s client in this spot, 

because it’s clear to me it wasn’t payment in full, and I said the bank’s 

lawyer made a mistake, because I think they did.  They should have sent 

the right amount, but even if they didn’t, I’m going to cover something 

else I found and I -- it’s going to, I think, be in Jessup, actually.  

  Now, I think Jessup is not supposed to be cited for controlling 

authority, given that the en banc Court is going to look at it.  But, the 

briefing, the post-trial briefing, did mention that I could nonetheless look 

at it as it might provide some guidance.  So, I -- I’m going to do that.  I 

mean, I think it could provide some guidance, although not authoritative, 

given that it’s being reconsidered or under consideration.   

  But, looking at the Jessup case -- all right, we have the Rock 
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Jung scenario, the key to our situation, again, not using Jessup as 

controlling authority but getting some, you know, message from the 

Court.  On page four of Jessup, it gets into something I want to make a 

finding on, separate and distinct from even this guidance that I get from 

Jessup.  But, Jessup does say on page four, that following the facts, 

neither Miles Bauer nor the bank took any actions to protect the first 

deed of trust.   

  So, that -- just by way of some guidance, does say that here 

Mr. Jung sent the letter, he gets back the rejection, and we look at all the 

evidence in the case and it’s clear that there was plenty of time now to 

deal with that rejection to, you know, maybe re-look at the  

page -- what we have in here as page 134 of Exhibit 9, or to do 

something to further inquire or otherwise deal with the fact that the thing 

got rejected, at least as I said, primarily because it wasn’t the right 

amount.   

  And, I think that’s important.  I think it’s important to say that 

there was plenty of opportunity to cure any problems with the defective 

tender.  And, for whatever reason in addition to making the initial 

mistake they, I think, compounded it by not doing anything further once 

they knew the thing got rejected.  And so, it becomes a insufficient 

tender.  

  So, I think when Mr. Hong says in his -- and I always enjoy 

when people say things that are just, you know, common-sense, flat-out, 

he says a couple times in his brief, there are no ifs, ands, or buts about 

it.  I agree.  I think there’s no ifs, ands, or buts about the idea from 
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Diamond Spur, mainly, that they -- if it’s not -- if the amount tendered is 

not the correct amount, but it’s less than the superpriority amount, it’s a 

invalid tender.  If it’s more than that, then it’s a valid tender, because it 

would include, of course, the correct amount.  We know that from other 

cases that evolved in the HOA arena.  

  But, Mr. Hong’s brief goes further than just giving us Diamond 

Spur and I appreciated that.  You bring up this Marathon Keys Trust 

case where there’s a reference in there about Diamond Spur, holding 

valid tender requires payment in full.  I see that, that was helpful.  You 

bring up this Resources Group case in your brief.  Again, the party 

consenting -- contesting the validity of HOA foreclosure bears the 

burden demonstrating that its tender is a delinquency-curing check -- 

okay, and whether it met the burden by proving that it paid the 

delinquency amount in full.  And, you give me again, that Resources 

Group case from March of ’19 at 135 Nevada Advanced Opinion 8.   

  So, it seems clear from these cases that, again, I think I said it 

enough, you got to tender the -- at least the right amount and if you don’t 

it’s a -- unless there’s something done notorious to try to fool you or hide 

it, which wasn’t the case here, it’s an invalid tender.  But, even if there’s 

an argument that I’m wrong about that, I am specifically finding that 

there was -- again, there was plenty of time to cure that problem and 

send over the right amount or otherwise deal with it, which the bank 

didn’t do.  So they made -- I think the bank made two mistakes that now 

equate to invalid tender, one: wrong amount, two: never fixed it once 

they knew it was rejected and had plenty of opportunity to do that.  I 
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think I said that enough.  

  All right, that takes us to the commercial reasonability issue; 

I’d like to say a few things about that.  Oh, before I move to that, I know 

it came up in the brief, the bank’s brief, and then Mr. Hong responded to 

it as well, even though I think it was a simultaneous filing of briefs, this 

idea of substantial compliance.  I agree with the bank that in some of 

these areas, substantial -- in HOA law, substantial compliance, of 

course, is Nevada law.  Some of the notice requirements and all that, 

some of the procedural requirements leading to the foreclosure sale 

itself, and what have you, I’m aware of the fact that some of that does 

involve substantial compliance law.   

  And, I’m sure there’s other areas in the HOA world and of 

course, plenty of areas, you know, mechanic’s liens and everything else, 

that we -- I know there’s a substantial compliance body of law that 

comes into play depending on what part of factual predicate you’re 

dealing with and whatever legal scenario you’re dealing with.  But, I think 

that’s a nice argument and who knows, maybe the higher Court will 

ultimately agree with that in this context, but I -- my thought is, given the 

cases that came up here that I’ve mentioned, I think the higher Court 

has determined that when it comes to the tender amount itself, 

substantial compliance is not enough.   

  All right, that takes us to the commercial reasonability or un-

reasonability, whichever way you want to look at that.  Again, it’s more 

than just inadequacy of price by way of a percentage comparing the 

market value to the amount paid and coming up with a percentage; 
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that’s one factor.  I think the other part of it is well-spelled out on page 

seven of Mr. Hong’s brief and it’s in the bank’s brief too, but I’m looking 

at Mr. Hong’s brief here where he says, there must be a nexus between 

the act of unfairness and the inadequacy of price, where the act of 

unfairness does something to affect the price.  And, I agree.  I didn’t see 

evidence in this case that counted for and brought about the inadequacy 

of price issue and so I don’t think that prong -- I think it’s a two-prong 

sort of test on commercial reasonability, un-reasonability, it -- that’s not 

met.  

  And, I’ve said in a lot of these cases, and I think it’s true, that 

in the HOA foreclosure realm, I mean, one of the reasons, of course, 

that you can get a property that’s worth hundreds of thousands of dollars 

for 7 percent, or 10 percent, or sometimes even less than all that, is 

because of the risk that people take.  You know, whether it’s listening to 

the adventures of Eddie Haddad, or whether it’s listening to the 

adventures of Mr. Hardin, it’s pretty clear to me that, you know, it’s the 

other adult casino.  The stock market’s one and going around bidding on 

these places is another.  If you want to be in the adult casino, there’s 

risk, just like in the stock market.  I mean, you know, sometimes I think 

it’d be easier just to go down and do red or black.  At least it’s over with 

and you don’t have to go through years with lawyers and trials and 

tribulations and everything else.  

  But, I mean, I think it’s the risk inherent in this that makes it 

such that the low price is warranted.  You know, I’ve had people -- 

because I’m a Judge, you know, you run around, you do stuff, I’ve had 
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people say to me, you know, I wish I’d have gotten into the HOA arena 

and these people are getting all these properties for pennies on the 

dollar.  And I say, well, there would be some that would tell you, you 

know, you don’t exactly just get them for pennies on the dollar so easily.   

  Mr. Hong, you got this one for all the reasons that I’ve said -- 

  MR. HONG:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  -- and that means you can draft the order.  

And, that’s it.  

  MR. HONG:  Thanks.  

  MR. GARNER:  Okay.  

  MR. HONG:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And, couple of weeks 

because I’m going to go off the transcript of today, if that’s okay? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, whatever you need to do, it’s --  

  MR. HONG:  Okay.  

  THE COURT:  -- you’re going to draft the order and -- 

  MR. HONG:  Okay, right. 

  THE COURT:  -- circulate it and all that, okay? 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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  MR. HONG:  Thank you, Judge.  

  THE COURT:  All right.  

[Proceeding concluded at 11:49 a.m.] 

* * * * * *  
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Notice is hereby given that The Bank of New York Mellon FKA The Bank of New York, as 

Trustee for the Certificateholders of CWALT, Inc., Alternative Loan Trust 2006 J-8, Mortgage Pass-

Through Certificates, Series 2006-J8 and Bank of America, N.A. appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court 

from this Court's (1) findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgment entered on April 30, 2020, 

for which a notice of entry was entered on the same day; and (2) all interlocutory orders 

incorporated therein. 

DATED this 27th day of May, 2020. 

AKERMAN LLP

/s/Jamie K. Combs   
DARREN T. BRENNER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8386 
JAMIE K. COMBS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13088 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134  

Attorneys for Bank of America, N.A. and The Bank of 
New York Mellon FKA The Bank of New York, as Trustee 
for the Certificateholders of CWALT, Inc., Alternative 
Loan Trust 2006 J-8, Mortgage Pass-Through 
Certificates, Series 2006-J8
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Akerman LLP, and that on this 27th day of 

May, 2020 and pursuant to NRCP 5, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

BANK OF AMERICA AND THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, AS TRUSTEE'S 

NOTICE OF APPEAL, in the following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced 

document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic Filing 

automatically generated by the Court's facilities to those parties listed on the Court's Master Service 

List. 

Gordon & Rees, LLP  
Gayle Angulo  gangulo@gordonrees.com  
Marie Ogella  mogella@gordonrees.com  
Robert Larsen   rlarsen@gordonrees.com  

Hong & Hong, APLC  
Debbie Batesel dbhonglaw@hotmail.com  
Joseph Y. Hong, Esq yosuphonglaw@gmail.com  

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court at whose 

discretion the service was made. 

/s/ Patricia Larsen   
An employee of AKERMAN LLP 
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association, NEVADA ASSOCIATION 
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1. The appellants filing this case appeal statement are The Bank of New York Mellon 

FKA The Bank of New York, as Trustee for the Certificateholders of CWALT, Inc., Alternative Loan 

Trust 2006 J-8, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2006-J8 and Bank of America, N.A.. 

2. The orders appealed are Judge Bare's (1) findings of fact and conclusions of law and 

judgment entered on April 30, 2020, for which a notice of entry was entered on the same day; and (2) 

all interlocutory orders incorporated therein. 

3. Counsel for appellants are Darren T. Brenner, Esq. and Jamie K. Combs, Esq. of 

AKERMAN LLP, 1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200, Las Vegas, Nevada 89134.  

4. Trial counsel for respondent NV Eagles LLC is Joseph Y. Hong, Esq. of HONG & HONG 

LAW OFFICE, 1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89135.  Appellants are not aware whether 

trial counsel for respondent will also act as its appellate counsel.  

5. Counsel for appellants are licensed to practice in Nevada.  Trial counsel for respondent 

is licensed to practice law in Nevada.  

6. Appellants are represented by retained counsel in the district court.  

7. Appellants are represented by retained counsel on appeal.  

8. Appellants were not granted leave to proceed in forma pauperis by the district court.  

9. The date proceedings commenced in the district court was June 16, 2013.   

10. In this consolidated action, respondent asserted quiet title and cancellation of 

instruments claims against respondents, contending that it owns property located at 2184 Pont National 

Drive, Henderson, Nevada 89044 (property), free and clear of BoNYM's deed of trust after 

respondent's predecessor-in-interest, Underwood Partners, LLC, purchased the property at a 

foreclosure sale conducted by Nevada Association Services, Inc. (NAS) on behalf of Madeira Canyon 

Homeowners Association (the HOA).  BoNYM asserted quiet title and declaratory relief cross-claims 

against respondent, contending the deed of trust survived because BANA's counsel at Miles, Bauer, 

Bergstrom & Winters, LLP  tendered payment for what it calculated to be the superpriority amount of 

the HOA's lien, even though it knew NAS would reject the tender, before NAS's foreclosure sale.  

Respondent never answered BoNYM's cross-claims.  Following a bench trial, the district court entered 

0934



3 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

A
K

E
R

M
A

N
 L

L
P

1
63

5
 V

IL
L

A
G

E
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 C

IR
C

L
E

, S
U

IT
E

 2
0

0
L

A
S

 V
E

G
A

S
, 

N
E

V
A

D
A

 8
91

34
T

E
L

.:
 (

70
2

) 
6

34
-5

00
0 

–
F

A
X

: 
(7

02
) 

38
0

-8
57

2

judgment, certified as final under NRCP 54(b), in respondent's favor, holding respondent took title to 

the property free and clear of BoNYM's deed of trust.    

11. This case has not been the subject of a previous appeal.  

12. This appeal does not involve child custody or visitation.  

13. Appellants are willing to discuss settlement with respondent. 

DATED this 27th day of May, 2020. 

AKERMAN LLP

/s/ Jamie K. Combs  
DARREN T. BRENNER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8386 
JAMIE K. COMBS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13088 
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134  

Attorneys for Bank of America, N.A. and The Bank of 
New York Mellon FKA The Bank of New York, as Trustee 
for the Certificateholders of CWALT, Inc., Alternative 
Loan Trust 2006 J-8, Mortgage Pass-Through 
Certificates, Series 2006-J8
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Akerman LLP, and that on this 27th day of 

May, 2020 and pursuant to NRCP 5, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

BANK OF AMERICA AND THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, AS TRUSTEE'S CASE 

APPEAL STATEMENT, in the following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced 

document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic Filing 

automatically generated by the Court's facilities to those parties listed on the Court's Master Service 

List. 

Gordon & Rees, LLP  
Gayle Angulo  gangulo@gordonrees.com  
Marie Ogella  mogella@gordonrees.com  
Robert Larsen   rlarsen@gordonrees.com  

Hong & Hong, APLC  
Debbie Batesel dbhonglaw@hotmail.com  
Joseph Y. Hong, Esq yosuphonglaw@gmail.com  

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court at whose 

discretion the service was made. 

/s/ Patricia Larsen   
An employee of AKERMAN LLP 
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